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The National Bank of Ras Al-Khaimah (P.S.C.)

Directors’ Report to the Shareholders

We are pleased to present the results of RAKBANK (“the Bank™) and its subsidiaries
(collectively known as “the Group™) for the year ended 31 December 2015. Net profit for
the year amounted to AED 1,405.3 million, a marginal decrease of AED 49.3 million over
the previous year, continuing the Group’s leadership position in the UAE in terms of Return
on Average Assets of 3.7% and Return on Average Equity of 19.3%. Total assets stood at
AED 40.6 billion, increasing by 16.4% compared to 31 December 2014. Gross loans and
advances closed at AED 28.5 billion, up by 10.6% over the previous year.

Financial Performance

The decrease of AED 49.3 million in the 2015 net profit over that of 2014 was mainly due to
an increase of AED 460.1 million in provision for impairment in loans and a decrease of
AED 12.6 million in investment income. The total operating income increased by 10.8%
whilst the operating expenses decreased by AED 26.7 million, down by 1.8% over the
previous year. The operating expenses were lower mainly due to a decline in outsourced
staff costs, marketing expenses and depreciation costs. Operating profit before impairment
losses grew by AED 410.8 million, up by 20% over 2014. This was offset by an increase of
AED 460.1 millien in provisions for loan impairment, up by 77.3% from the previous year,
as a result of larger payment defaults in the unsecured loan products, SME and Commercial

Banking segments.

The growth in Total Operating Income by AED 384.1 million to AED 3.9 billion was
mainly due to an increase of AED 291.1 million in Net Interest Income and Income from
Islamic finance net of distribution to depositors compared to the previous year. Net Interest
Income and income from Islamic financing increased to AED 3.0 billion. Interest income
from conventional loans and investments increased by 4.2% over the last year, while interest
costs on conventional deposits and borrowings increased by 8.1%. Net income from Sharia-
compliant financing was up by AED 191.4 million which was in line with the increase in
Islamic Financing portfolio.

Non-interest income grew by AED 93 million to AED 890.9 million, on the back of AED
37.5 million in income from the insurance segment since acquisition of Ras Al Khaimah
National Insurance Company PSC (RAK Insurance) in May 2015. There was an increase of
AED 30.7 million in other operating income, AED 29.3 million in net fees and commission
income compared to 2014. Foreign exchange and derivative income was up by AED 8.1
million and investment income decreased by AED 12.6 million over the previous year. The
decrease in investment income was due to an impairment charge for the decline in value of
the equity investments portfolio compared to a gain in the previous year.

Operating costs were down by AED 26.7 million, a decrease of 1.8% over 2014. This was
mainly due to a decrease of AED 10.5 million in outsourced staff costs and AED 2.8 million
in marketing costs. There was a drop of AED 6.8 million in depreciation costs. Combined
with an increase in Total Operating Income, the Group’s cost to revenue ratio came down to
37.5% compared to 42.3% for the previous year.
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The National Bank of Ras Al-Khaimah (P.S.C.)
Directors’ Report to the Shareholders (continued)

Non-performing loans and advances to gross loans and advances ratio closed at 3.2%
compared to 2.4% and net credit losses to average loans and advances closed at 3.8%
compared to 2.5% in the previous year. The Group is well provisioned against loan losses
with a conservative loan loss coverage ratio of 81.4% compared to 87.1% at the end of 2014
and this coverage ratio does not take into consideration mortgaged properties and other
realizable asset collateral available against the loans. Additionally, the Bank has a non-
distributable regulatory credit risk reserve equal to 1.5% of its credit risk rated assets, which
amounts to AED 377 million. Together with this reserve, the provision coverage ratio would
increase to 122.7%.

Total assets increased by 16.4% to AED 40.6 billion compared to the end of 2014 with the
major contributions coming from gross loans and advances and lending to banks which grew
by AED 2.7 billion and AED 1.6 billion respectively. The Wholesale Banking segment
lending, grew by 138.1% up by AED 1.4 billion over the previous year. Retail banking
segment loan portfolio which includes small and medium business loans grew by AED 1.3
billion compared 31 December 2014. Our ‘Amal’ Islamic Banking unit continues to grow,
achieving an increase of AED 1.1 billion in its financing portfolio, up by 33.2% over the last
year.

Customer deposits grew by AED 12.9% to AED 27.8 billion compared to 2014. The growth
came mainly from an increase of AED 2.5 billion in demand deposits and AED 653.2
million in time deposits. Islamic customer deposits grew by AED 899.2 million to AED 3.5
billion compared to the previous year.

During the first half of 2015, the Group successfully issued the second tranche of USD 300
million notes under its USD 1 billion medium term note program at a premium rate of
100.875% through its subsidiary RAKFunding Cayman Ltd, to take advantage of the low-
cost financing opportunities in the bond market and to proactively tackle the duration
mismatch from funding longer tenure loans using short-term deposits. So far the Group has
issued USD 800 million of these notes against the original programme of USD 1 billion.
These notes mature in 2019 and carry a fixed interest rate of 3.25% per annum. Interest on
these medium term notes is payable haif-yearly in arrears.

In the Ordinary General Assembly on 18 August 2014, the shareholders of the Bank had
approved the acquisition of a majority stake in RAK Insurance at a cash price of AED 3.64
per share. The Bank received approval on 6 January 2015 from the Central Bank of UAE to
proceed with the share purchase offer to the shareholders of RAK Insurance. In May 2015
the Bank made a public offer to shareholders of the insurance company to purchase their
shareholding at a cash price of AED 3.64 per share. 79.23% of RAK Insurance shareholders
accepted this offer and on 28 May 2015 the Bank acquired 79.23% stake in the company
which has been accounted for as a subsidiary since then.
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The National Bank of Ras Al-Khaimah (P.S.C.)
Directors’ Report to the Shareholders (continued)

The Bank’s Tier 1 ratio as per Basel I after taking into consideration the profit for 2015 and
the proposed dividend was 24.4% at yearend (subject to shareholders and UAE Central
Bank approval), compared to 26.5% at the end of 2014, against a requirement of 12% set by
the UAE Central Bank. We find that this level of capital provides the Bank with ample room
for growth in 2016. The regulatory eligible liquid asset ratio at the end of the year was
19.1%, compared to 20.0% at the end of 2014, and advances to stable resources ratio stood
comfortably at 83.3% compared to 87.9% at the end of 2014.

Ratings
The Bank is currently rated by the following leading rating agencies. The ratings are given
below:

Riting Aocnoy Last Update Deposits Outlook
Moody’s September 2015 Baal / P-2 Stable
Fitch August 2015 BBB+/F2 Stable
Capital Intelligence August 2015 A- /A2 Stable

Dividend and appropriation of profits

The Directors, at the board meeting held on 2 February 2016 have recommended a cash
dividend of 50%. The Directors consider that the Bank is well placed to meet the continuing
challenges which will be faced during 2016. The dividend recommendations will result in
40% of net profit being retained within the Bank’s shareholders equity thereby increasing
capital and reserves to strengthen the Bank’s overall position and provide support for future
growth.

The Directors propose to increase the general banking risk reserve by AED 100 million,
credit risk reserve by AED 100 million and regulatory credit risk reserve by AED 43
million to align it at 1.5% of the Bank’s total credit risk weighted assets. These measures
will increase the Bank’s shareholders’ equity to AED 6.8 billion after payment of the
proposed cash dividend. A detailed appropriation schedule is provided in note 14 to the
financial statements.
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The National Bank of Ras Al-Khaimah (P.S.C.)

Directors’ Report to the Shareholders (continued)

Developments in 2015:

[+]
o
o
o

[+]

Raising an additional USD 300 million bond through its EMTN

Appointing a new Chairman, H.E. Mohammad Omran Alshamsi

Acquiring 79.23% stake in RAK Insurance

Selectively re-entering the Wholesale Banking segment to diversify the Bank’s risk
profile

Launching RAKelite premium banking

Achieving the ISO 9001:2015 version certificate for the Bank’s Branches and
Inbound Contact Centre, certified by QCS Management Pvt Ltd of ISO 9001:2015
Quality Management System

Introducing RAKMoneyTransfer’s new remittance business with corridors to India
Launching three new MasterCard Credit Cards including RAKBANK World, Red
‘Tap & Go’, and Kalyan Jewellers

Introducing a new logo and refreshed corporate branding

Recognition in 2015:

(2]

Best SME Bank in the Middle East for RAKFinance at The Asian Banker Middle
East Retail Product Awards

Best Mobile Banking Initiative for MobileCash at The Asian Banker Middle East
Retail Product Awards

Best Service Innovation for Customer Web-Chat by Ethos UAE Service Olympian
Awards

Best Mobile App by Ethos UAE Service Olympian Awards

Best Segment Solution for World MasterCard Credit Card by MasterCard Innovation
Forum

EMEA Customer Innovation Award by Genesys G-Force Awards

QOutlook for 2016

Looking to the future, we remain committed to generating solid and sustainable growth
across our Retail, Wholesale, Treasury and Insurance segments. We are placing greater
emphasis on optimizing synergies within the Group to increase efficiency while supporting
the diversification of our revenue streams. By doing so, we aim to better serve our
customers by offering them a seamless experience across the Bank’s diverse products and
services through industry-leading customer service, innovation, and simplicity. We will also
continue to strengthen our capacity to meet any future challenges.

mpén Alshamsi

For and on behalf of Board of Directors
2" February 2016
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Independent auditor’s report to the shareholders of
The National Bank of Ras Al-Khaimah (P.S.C.)

Report on the consolidated financial statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of The National Bank
of Ras Al-Khaimah (P.S.C.) (“the Bank™) and its subsidiaries (together referred to as
“Group™), which comprise the consolidated statements of financial position as of 31
December 2015 and the consolidated statement of income, comprehensive income, changes
in equity and cash flows for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting
policies and other explanatory notes.

Management’s responsibility for the consolidated financial statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated
financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and
their preparation in compliance with the applicable provisions of the UAE Federal Law No.
(2) of 2015, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable
the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based
on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on
Auditing. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the consolidated financial
statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the
auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk
assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and
fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated
financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide
a basis for our audit opinion.

PricewaterhouseCoopers (Dubai Branch), License no. 102451
Emaar Square, Building 4, Level 8, P O Box 11987, Dubai - United Arab Emirates
T: +971 {0)4 304 3100, F: +971 (0)4 346 9150, www.pwe.com/me

Douglas Patrick O'Mahony, Paul Suddaby and Jacques Fakhoury are registered as practising auditors with the UAE Ministzy of Economy (5)
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Independent auditors’ report to the sharehoiders of
The Nationai Bank of Ras Al-Khaimah (P.S.C.) (continued)

Opinion

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all
material respects, the financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2015 and its
financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards.

Report on ether legal and regulatory requirements

As required by the UAE Federal Law No. (2) of 2015, we report that:

viii)

we have obtained all the information we considered necessary for the purposes of our
audit;

the consolidated financial statements have been prepared and comply, in all material
respects, with the applicable provisions of the UAE Federal Law No. (2) of 2015;

the Group has maintained proper books of account;

the financial information included in the Chairman’s and Directors’ report is
consistent with the books of account of the Group;

as disclosed in note 7 to the consolidated financial statements, the Group has
purchased / invested in shares during the year ended 31 December 2015;

note 34 to the consolidated financial statements discloses material related party
transactions, and the terms under which they were conducted;

based on the information that has been made available to us nothing has come to our
attention which causes us to believe that the Group has contravened during the year
ended 31 December 2015 any of the applicable provisions of the UAE Federal Law
No. (2) of 2015 or in respect of the Bank, its Articles of Association which would
materially affect its activities or its financial position as at 31 December 2015; and
note 44 to the consolidated financial statements discloses the social contributions
made during the year ended 31 December 2015.

Further, as required by the UAE Union Law No (10) of 1980, as amended, we report that we
have obtained all the information and explanations we considered necessary for the purpose
of our audit.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
2 February 2016

Ortuy

Douglas O’Mahony
Registered Auditor Number 834
Dubai, United Arab Emirates
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The National Bank of Ras Al-Khaimah (P.S.C.)

Consolidated statement of financial position

ASSETS

Cash and balances with the UAE Central Bank
Due from other banks

Loans and advances, net

Investment securities

Insurance contract assets and receivables
Other assets

Goodwill and other intangible assets

Property and equipment, net

Total assets

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

EQUITY

Share capital

Share premium

Retained earnings

Other reserves

Equity attributable to equity holders of the Bank
Non-controlling interests

Total shareholders’ equity

LIABILITIES

Due to other banks

Deposits from customers

Debt security in issue

Insurance contract liabilities and payables
Other liabilities

Provision for employees’ end of service benefits
Total liabilities

Total equity and liabilities

Notes

—
00 O = \D =1t bW

12
13

14

15

16
17
19
20
21
22

As at 31 December

2015 2014
AED’000 AED’000
4,908,196 4,217,469
1,906,813 305,947

27,798,096 25,266,475
4,114,981 3,785,289
325,493 -
424,676 317,263
177,349 -
897,450 937,714
40,553,054 34,830,157
1,676,245 1,676,245
110,350 110,350
2,102,951 1,784,065
3,789,706 3,560,461
7,679,252 7,131,121
38,196 :
7,717,448 7,131,121
1,056,141 761,807
27,820,105 24,651,408
2,864,727 1,667,629
389,783 -
608,799 533,340
96,051 84,852
32,835,606 27,699,036
40,553,054 34,830,157

These consolidated financial statements were authorised for issue by the Board of Directors

on 2 February 2016 and were signed on its behalf by:

The notes from 1 to 44 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements

Chief'Executive Officer
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The National Bank of Ras Al-Khaimah (P.S.C.)

Consclidated income statement

Interest income
Interest expense
Net interest income

Income from Islamic financing

Distribution to depositors

Income from Islamic financing net of
distribution to depositors

Net interest income and income from
Islamic products net of distribution
to depositors

Net fees and commission income
Foreign exchange income

Gross insurance underwriting profit
Investment (loss) / income

Other operating income
Non-interest income

Operating income

Operating expenses

Operating profit before provision for
impairment

Provision for impairment of loans and
advances net of write backs

Net profit for the year

Attributed to:

Equity holders of the Bank

Non-controlling interests

Net profit for the year

Earnings per share

Basic and diluted in AED

Notes

25
25

26
26

27

28

29

30

5(d)

32

Year ended 31 December

2015 2014
AED’ 000 AED ’000
2,901,754 2,785,319

{223,829) (207,116)
2,677,925 2,578,203
405,287 209,290

(34,917) (30,287)
370,370 179,003
3,048,295 2,757,206
682,250 652,945
94,894 86,813
37,505 -
(6,168) 6,435
82,456 51,753
890,937 797,946
3,939,232 3,555,152
(1,478,507) (1,505,219)
2,460,725 2,049,933
(1,055,405) (595,331)
1,405,320 1,454,602
1,400,387 1,454,602
4,933 =
1,405,320 1,454,602
AED 0.84 AED 0.87

(8)

The notes from 1 to 44 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements



The National Bank of Ras Al-Khaimah (P.S.C.)

Consolidated statement of comprehensive income

Note

Net profit for the year
Items that may be re-classified subsequently
to the income statement

Changes in fair value of available-for-sale

investment securities 7(c)
Impairment / (net realized gain) transferred to

income statement 7(c)
Total other comprehensive income
Total comprehensive income for the year

Attributed to:

Equity holders of the Bank
Non-controlling interests

Total comprehensive income for the year

Year ended 31 December

2015 2014
AED’000 AED’000
1,405,320 1,454,602

(20,274) 2,208

6,000 (3,636)

(14,274) (1,428)
1,391,046 1,453,174
1,389,029 1,453,174

2,017 :

1,391,046 1,453,174
%)

The notes from 1 to 44 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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The National Bank of Ras Al-Khaimah (P.S.C.)

Consolidated statement of cash flows

Operating activities

Net profit for the year

Adjustments:
Provision for impairment of loans and advances net of

write backs

Depreciation
Amortisation of intangible assets
Fair valuation of asset acquired
Provision for employees® end of service benefits
Gain on disposal of property and equipment
Amortisation of premium relating to investmens
Loss / (gain) on on held for trading securities
Gain on sale of investment securities
Loss on available for sale investments securities

Loss on sale of held to maturity investments securities
Operating cash flows before payment of employees’ end
of service benefits and changes in assets and liabilities
Payment of employees’ end of service benefits
Changes in assets and liabilities:
Statutory deposits with the UAE Central Bank
Certificate of deposits with the UAE Central Bank with
original maturities of over 3 months
Due from other banks with original maturities of three
months or more
Loans and advances, Islamic financing assets net of
provision for impairment
Insurance contract assets and receivables
Other assets
Due to other banks (net of amounts due to the UAE
Central Bank)

Insurance contract liabilities
Due to customers
Other liabilities
Net cash generated from operating activities

Investing activities

Purchase of investment securities

Purchase of property and equipment

Proceeds from maturity / disposal of investment securities
Investments in RAKNIC, net

Proceeds from disposal of property and equipment
Net cash used in investing activities

Financing activities

Debt securities issued

Dividend paid to equity holders of the Bank
Zakat paid

Net cash generated from financing activities

Net increase / (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year

Note

5(d)
8

10
11
22

7(c)
(<)
T{c)

22

5,6

16

17

T(c)

7(c)
40

19
12,33

35

Year ended 31 December

2015 2014
AED000 AED000
1,405,320 1,454,602
1,055,405 595,331
121,302 130,000
1,872 -
(5,400) -
19,305 22,791
(934) (1,182)
16,129 15,784
799 (1,334)
- (3,636)

6,000 -

- 709
2,619,798 2,213,065
{11,663) (11,251)
(306,489) (415,411)
- (250,000)

(442 442)

(3,587,026) (3,902,561)
(27,147) -
(91,930) (40,725)
294,334 758,450
(18,248) -

3,168,697 1,582,261
61,000 68,457
1,658,884 2,285
(478,159) (1,253,955)
(79,069) (45,111)
163,187 151,667
{203,956) -
18,174 7,452
(579,823) (1,139,947)
1,197,008 1,667,629
{838,123) (838,123)
(378) -
358,597 829,506
1,437,658 (308,156)
1,002,191 1,310,347
2,439,849 1,002,191
(11)

The notes from 1 to 44 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements



The National Bank of Ras Al-Khaimah (P.S.C.)

Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2015

1 Incorporation and principal activities

The National Bank of Ras Al-Khaimah (“the Bank™) is a public shareholding company
incorporated in the Emirate of Ras Al-Khaimah in the United Arab Emirates (“UAE”) in
accordance with the UAE Federal law No. 8 of 1984 (as amended) and listed on the Abu Dhabi
Securities Exchange. The head office of the Bank is located at the National Bank of Ras Al-
Khaimah building, Al Rifa area, Exit No. 129, Sheikh Mohammed Bin Zayed road, Ras Al-

Khaimah, UAE.

UAE Federal Law No. 2 of 2015 (Companies Law) which is applicable to the Group has come
into effect from 1 July 2015. The Group is currently assessing and evaluating the relevant
provisions of the Companies Law. It has twelve months from the effective date of the
Companies Law to fully comply with the Companies Law under the transitional provisions set
out therein.

The Bank is engaged in providing retail and commercial banking services through a network of
thirty five branches in the UAE.

In the Ordinary General Assembly on 18 August 2014, the shareholders of the Bank approved
the acquisition of a majority stake in Ras Al Khaimah National Insurance Company PSC
(RAKNIC) at a cash price of AED 3.64 per share. The Bank received approval on 6 January
2015 from the Central Bank of UAE to proceed with the share purchase offer to the
shareholders of RAKNIC. In May 2015 the Bank made a public offer to shareholders of
RAKNIC to purchase their shareholding at a cash price of AED 3.64 per share. 79.23% of
RAKNIC shareholders accepted this offer and on 28 May 2015 the Bank acquired 79.23% stake
in RAKNIC, which has been accounted for as a subsidiary from that date — see note 40 for
details of the business combination. Accordingly, the consolidated results include the results of
RAKNIC from the date of acquisition to 31 December 2015 and include the assets less
liabilities of RAKNIC on 31 December 2015.

At 31 December 2015, The National Bank of Ras Al-Khaimah (P.S.C) comprises the Bank and

five subsidiaries (together referred to as “the Group”). The consolidated financial statements for
the year ended 31 December 2015 comprises the Bank and its subsidiaries.

(12)



The National Bank of Ras Al-Khaimah (P.S.C.)

Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended

31 December 2015 (continued)

i Incorporation and principal activities (continued)
Subsidiary Authorised Ownership | Incorporated | Principal Activities
: and issued interest
capital

Ras Al Khaimah AED 110 79.23% UAE All type of insurance

National Insurance | Million business.

Company PSC

RAK Islamic AED 100 99.9% UAE To sell sharia compliant

Finance Company | million financial products

Pvt. J.S.C

BOSS FZCO AED 80% UAE Back office support

500,000 services to the Bank

RAK Technologies | AED 80% UAE Technological  support

FZCO 500,000 services to the Bank

Rakfunding USD 100 99.9% Cayman To facilitate the issue of

Cayman Limited Island USD 800 million Euro
medium term  notes
(EMTN) under the
Bank’s USD 1 billion
EMTN programme.

2 Significant accounting policies

The significant accounting policies applied in the preparation of these consolidated financial
statements are set out below. These policies have been consistently applied to all the years
presented, unless otherwise stated.

(a)  Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) and IFRS Interpretation
Committee (IFRS IC) interpretations applicable to the companies reporting under IFRS. The
consolidated financial statements are prepared under the historical cost convention except for
held for trading and available-for-sale financial assets and derivative financial instruments
which have been measured at fair value.

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use
of certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgment in
the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree of
judgment or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the
consolidated financial statements are disclosed in Note 43.
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The National Bank of Ras Al-Khaimah (P.S.C.)

Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2015 (continued)

2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
(@)  Basis of preparation (continued)
Standards, amendments and interpretations

Standards, amendments and interpretations that are effective for the Group’s accounting
period beginning on 1 January 2015

New standards and significant amendments to standards applicable | Effective date
to the Group

Annual improvements 2010-2012 cycle 1 July 2014
m IFRS 8, ‘Operating segments’ which is amended to require disclosure of
the judgements made by management in applying the aggregation criteria
to operating segments. It is also amended to require a reconciliation of
segment assets to the entity’s assets when segment assets are reported.
IAS 16, ‘Property, plant and equipment’ and IAS 38, ‘Intangible assets’
are amended to clarify how the gross carrying amount and the
accumulated depreciation are treated where an entity uses the revaluation
model.

m IAS 24, ‘Related party disclosures’ is amended to include, as a related
party, an entity that provides key management personnel services to the
reporting entity or to the parent of the reporting entity (the ‘management
entity’). Disclosure of the amounts charged to the reporting entity is
required.

m IFRS 3 — clarifies that an obligation to pay contingent consideration is
classified as financial liability or equity under the principles in IAS 32 and
that all non-equity contingent consideration (financial and non-financial)
is measured at fair value at each reporting date.

Annual improvements 2011- 2013 1 July 2014
m IFRS 13 ‘Fair value measurement’ on clarification of the portfolio
exemption in IFRS 13 - The amendment clarifies that the portfolio
exception in IFRS 13, which allows an entity to measure the fair value of
a group of financial assets and financial liabilities on a net basis, applies
to all contracts (including non-financial contracts) within the scope of IAS
39, ‘Financial instruments: Recognition and measurement® or IFRS 9,
‘Financial instruments.’

m IFRS 3 — clarifies that an obligation to pay contingent consideration is .
classified as financial liability or equity under the principles in IAS 32 and
that all non-equity contingent consideration (financial and non-financial)
is measured at fair value at each reporting date.

IAS 19, Defined benefit plans: Employee contributions 1 July 2014
The amendment clarifies the accounting by entities with plans that require
contributions linked only to service in each period.

Entities with plans that require contributions that vary with service will be
required to recognise the benefit of those contributions over employees’
working lives. Management should consider how it will apply that model.
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The National Bank of Ras Al-Khaimah (P.S.C.)

Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2015 (continued)

2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

(@)  Basis of preparation (continued)

Standards, amendments and interpretations (continued)

There is no material impact of the above amendments on the consolidated financial statements
of the Group.

There are no other IFRSs or IFRIC interpretations that were effective for the first time for the
financial year beginning on 01 January 2015 that have had a material impact on the Group’s
consolidated financial statements.

Standards, amendments and interpretations issued but not yet effective for the Group’s
accounting period beginning on 1 January 2015 and not early adopted

Amendment to IAS 16, ‘Property, plant and equipment’ and IAS 38, | 1 January 2016
‘Intangible assets’ regarding depreciation and amortisation.

This amendment clarifies that revenue is generally presumed to be an
inappropriate basis for measuring the consumption of the economic
benefits embodied in an intangible asset. The presumption may only be
rebutted in certain limited circumstances.

TIAS 1 Amendments to IAS 1, ‘Presentation of financial statements’ | 1 January 2016
Disclosure initiative

The amendments clarify that it may be necessary to disaggregate some of
the line items specified in IAS 1 paragraphs 54 (statement of financial
position) and 82 (profit or loss). That disaggregation is required where it is
relevant to an understanding of the entity’s financial position or
performance.

Amendments to IFRS 19, ‘Consolidated financial statements’ and IAS | 1 January 2016
28, ‘Investments in associates and joint ventures’ regarding the sale or
contribution of assets between an investor and its asscciate or joint
venture

These amendments address an inconsistency between IFRS 10 and JAS 28
in the sale or contribution of assets between an investor and its associate or
joint venture. A full gain or loss is recognised when a transaction involves
a business. A partial gain or loss is recognised when a transaction involves
assets that do not constitute a business, even if those assets are in a
subsidiary.

The IASB has made amendments to IAS 27 Separate Financial
Statements which will allow entities to use the equity method in their
separate financial statements to measure investments in subsidiaries, joint
ventures and associates.

JIAS 27 currently allows entities to measure their investments in
subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates either at cost or as a financial
asset in their separate financial statements. The amendments introduce the
equity method as a third option. The election can be made independently
for each category of investment (subsidiaries, joint ventures and
associates). Entities wishing to change to the equity method must do so
refrospectively.
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The National Bank of Ras Al-Khaimah (P.S.C.)

Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended

31 December 2015 (continued)
2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
(@)  Basis of preparation (continued)

Standards, amendments and interpretations (continued)

Annual improvements 2012-2014 cycle _

a [FRS 7, ‘Financial instruments: Disclosures’ — The amendment related to
servicing contracts requires that if an entity transfers a financial asset to a
third party under conditions which allow the transferor to derecognise the
asset, IFRS 7 requires disclosure of all types of continuing involvement
that the entity might still have in the transferred assets.

m IAS 19, ‘Employee benefits’ — The amendment clarifies, when
determining the discount rate for post-employment benefit obligations, that
it is the currency that the liabilities are denominated in that is important,
not the country where they arise.

m IAS 34,’Interim financial reporting’, regarding information disclosed
¢lsewhere in the interim financial report. The amendment clarifies what is
meant by the reference in the standard to ‘information disclosed elsewhere
in the interim financial report’. The amendment further amends IAS 34 to
require a cross-reference from the interim financial statements to the
location of that information. The amendment is retrospective.

1 January 2016

IFRS. 15, ‘Revenue from contracts with customers’

This standard replaces IAS 11, ‘Construction contracts’, IAS 18,
‘Revenue’ and related interpretations. Revenue is recognised when a
customer obtains control of a good or service and thus has the ability to
direct the use of and obtain the benefits from the good or service. The core
principle of IFRS 15 is that an entity recognises revenue to depict the
transfer of promised goods or services to customers in an amount that
reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in
exchange for those goods or services. IFRS 15 also includes a cohesive set
of disclosure requirements that will result in an entity providing users of
financial statements with comprehensive information about the nature,
amount, timing and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows arising from the
entity’s contracts with customers.

1 January 2018
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The National Bank of Ras Al-Khaimah (P.S.C.)

Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended

31 December 2015 (continued)
2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
(a)  Basis of preparation (continued)

Standards, amendments and interpretations (continued)

IFRS 9, ‘Financial instruments’

The complete version of IFRS 9 replaces most of the guidance in IAS 39.
IFRS 9 retains but simplifies the mixed measurement model and
establishes three primary measurement categories for financial assets:
amortised cost, fair value through OCI and fair value through P&L. The
basis of classification depends on the entity’s business model and the
contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial asset. Investments in
equity instruments are required to be measured at fair value through profit
or loss with the irrevocable option at inception to present changes in fair
value in OCI. There is now a new expected credit losses model that
replaces the incurred loss impairment model used in IAS 39. For financial
liabilities, there were no changes to classification and measurement except
for the recognition of changes in own credit risk in other comprehensive
income, for liabilities designated at fair value, through profit or loss. IFRS
9 relaxes the requirements for hedge effectiveness by replacing the bright
line hedge effectiveness tests. It requires an economic relationship
between the hedged item and hedging instrument and for the ‘hedged
ratio’ to be the same as the one management actually uses for risk
management purposes. Contemporaneous documentation is still required
but is different to that currently prepared under IAS 39.

1 January 2018
Earlier
application is
permitted. If an
entity elects to
early apply, it
must apply all
of the
requirements at
the same time.

The Group has plans in place for adhering to the above new standards and amendments to
published standards or IFRIC interpretations. IFRS 9 in particular is expected to have a
pervasive impact on the Group’s financial statements and the Group will commence evaluating

the potential effects during the first half of the 2016.

There are no other applicable new standards and amendments to published standards or IFRIC
interpretations that have been issued but are not effective for the first time for the Group’s
financial year beginning on 1 January 2015 that would be expected to have a material impact on

the consolidated financial statements of the Group.
(b) Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the consolidated financial statements of
The National Bank of Ras Al-Khaimah (P.S.C.) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to

as “Group™).

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all entities over which the Group has control. The Group controls an entity
when the Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with
the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the entity.
Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the

Group.
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The National Bank of Ras Al-Khaimah (P.S.C.)

Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2015 (continued)

2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
(b) Consolidation (continued)
Transactions eliminated on consolidation

Intra-group balances and income and expenses (except for foreign currency transaction
gains or losses) arising from intra-group transactions, are eliminated in preparing the
consolidated financial statements. Unrealised losses are eliminated in the same way as
unrealised gains, but only to the extent that there is no evidence of impairment.

(¢}  Loans and advances and provision for impairment

Loans and advances are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments
that are not quoted in an active market. Loans and advances are initially recognized at fair
value, which is the cash consideration to originate or purchase a loan including any
transaction costs, and measured subsequently at amortised cost using the effective interest
method.

The Group assesses at each financial position date whether there is objective evidence that
loans and advances are impaired. Loans and advances are impaired and impairment losses
are incurred only if there is objective evidence that the Group will not be able to collect all
amounts due.

The criteria that the Group uses to determine that there is objective evidence of an
impairment loss include;

Delinquency in contractual payments of principal or interest;

Cash flow difficulties experienced by the borrower;

Breach of loan covenants or conditions;

Initiation of bankruptcy proceedings;

Deterioration of the borrower’s competitive position;

Deterioration in the value of collateral; and

Observable data indicating that there is a measurable decrease in the estimated future
cash flows from a portfolio of financial assets since the initial recognition of those
assets, although the decrease cannot yet be identified with the individual financial assets
in the portfolio, including:

(i} adverse changes in the payment status of borrowers in the portfolio; and

(i) national or local economic conditions that correlate with defaults on the assets in the
portfolio.
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The National Bank of Ras Al-Khaimah (P.S.C.)

Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2015 (continued)

2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

(c)  Loans and advances and provision for impairment (continued)

The Group first assesses whether objective evidence of impairment exists either individuaily
for financial assets that are individually significant and individually or collectively for
financial assets that are not individually significant. If the Group determines that no
objective evidence of impairment exists for an individually assessed financial asset, whether
significant or not, it includes the asset in a group of financial assets with similar credit risk
characteristics and collectively assesses them for impairment. Assets that are individually
assessed for impairment and for which an impairment loss is or continues to be recognised
are not included in a collective assessment of impairment.

The amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount
and the present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit losses that have
not been incurred) discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate. The
carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance account and the
amount of the loss is recognised in the consolidated income statement. If the amount of
impairment subsequently decreases due to an event occurring after the write down, the
release of the provision is credited to the consolidated income statement. If a loan has a
variable interest rate, the discount rate for measuring any impairment loss is the current
effective interest rate determined under the contract.

The calculation of the present value of the estimated future cash flows of a collateralised
financial asset reflects the cash flows that may result from foreclosure less costs for
obtaining and selling the collateral, whether or not foreclosure is probable.

For the purposes of a collective evaluation of impairment, financial assets are grouped on
the basis of similar credit risk characteristics (i.e. on the basis of the Group’s grading
process that considers asset type, industry, collateral type, past-due status and other refevant
factors). Those characteristics are relevant to the estimation of future cash flows for groups
of such assets by being indicative of the debtors’ ability to pay all amounts due according to
the contractual terms of the assets being evaluated. :

Future cash flows in a group of financial assets that are collectively evaluated for
impairment are estimated on the basis of the contractual cash flows of the assets and
historical loss experience for assets with similar credit risk characteristics. Historical loss
experience is adjusted on the basis of current observable data to reflect the effects of current
conditions that did not affect the period on which the historical loss experience is based and
to remove the effects of conditions in the historical period that do not currently exist.

Estimates of changes in future cash flows for groups of assets reflect and are directionally
consistent with changes in related observable data from period to period (for example,
changes in unemployment rates, property prices, payment status, or other factors indicative
of changes in the probability of losses and their magnitude). The methodology and
assumptions used for estimating future cash flows are reviewed regularly by the Group to
reduce any differences between loss estimates and actual loss experience.
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The National Bank of Ras Al-Khaimah (P.S.C.)

Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2015 (continued)

2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
(¢)  Loans and advances and provision for impairment (continued)

When a loan is uncollectable, it is written off against the related provision for impairment.
This is normally done within six to twelve months of the loan becoming past due, depending
on type of the loan. Non performing mortgage loans, however, are written off after
considering each individual case. If no related provision exists, it is written off to the
consolidated income statement. Subsequent recoveries are credited to the consolidated
income statement.

Loans that are either subject to collective impairment assessment or individually significant
and whose terms have been renegotiated are no longer considered to be past due but are
treated as new loans.

(d)  Islamic financing

The Group engages in Shari’ah compliant Islamic banking activities through various Islamic
instruments such as Murabaha, Salam, Mudaraba, and Wakala. The accounting policy for
initial recognition, subsequent measurement and derecognition of Islamic financial assets
and liabilities are as per Note 2(c).

(i) Murabaha financing

A sale contract whereby the Group sells to a customer commodities and other assets at an
agreed upon profit mark up on cost. The Group purchases the assets based on a promise
received from customer to buy the item purchased according to specific terms and
conditions. Profit from Murabaha is quantifiable at the commencement of the transaction.
Such income is recognised as it accrues over the period of the contract on effective profit
rate method on the balance outstanding.

(i) Salam

Bai Al Salam is a Sale contract where the Customer (Seller) undertakes to deliver/supply a
specified tangible asset to the Group (Buyer) at mutually agreed future date(s) in exchange
for an advance price fully paid on the spot by the buyer.

Revenue on Salam financing is recognised on the effective profit rate basis over the period
of the contract, based on the Salam capital outstanding.

(iii) Mudaraba

A contract between the Group and a customer, whereby one party provides the funds (Rab
Al Mal- customer) and the other party (the Mudarib- the Group) invests the funds in a
project or a particular activity and any profits generated are distributed between the parties
according to the profit shares that were pre-agreed in the contract. The Mudarib would bear
the loss in case of default, negligence or violation of any of the terms and conditions of the
Mudaraba, otherwise, losses are borne by the Rab Al Mal.
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The National Bank of Ras Al-Khaimah (P.S.C.)

Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2015 (continued)

2. Significant accounting policies (continued)
(d)  Islamic financing (continued)
(iv)y ~Wakala

An agreement between the Group and customer whereby one party (Rab Al Mal-principal)
provides a certain sum of money to an agent (Wakil), who invests it according to specific
conditions in return for a certain fee (a lump sum of money or a percentage of the amount
invested). The agent is obliged to return the invested amount in case of default, negligence
or violation of any of the terms and conditions of the Wakala. The Group may be Wakil or
Rab Al Mal depending on the nature of the transaction.

Estimated income from Wakala is recognised on an accrual basis over the period, adjusted
by actual income when received. Losses are accounted for on the date of declaration by the

agent.
W) Ijara

Ijara financing is a finance lease agreement whereby the Bank (lessor) leases an asset based
on the customer’s (lessee) request and promise to lease the assets for a specific period in
lieu of rental instalments. Jjara ends in transferring the ownership of the asset to the lessee at
the end of the lease inclusive of the risks and rewards incident to an ownership of the leased
assets. [jara assets are stated at amounts equal to the net investment outstanding in the lease
including the income earned thereon less impairment provisions.

{e)  Investment securities

The Group classifies its investment securities in the following categories: Trading securities,
Held-to-maturity and available-for-sale. Management determines the classification of its
investments at initial recognition.

Trading securities: Investment securities held at fair value through profit and loss are those
which are acquired principally for the purpose of trading with the objective of generating
profit.

Held-to-maturity: Held-to-maturity investments are non-derivative financial assets with
fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturities that the Group’s management has the
positive intention and ability to hold to maturity. If the Group were to sell other than an
insignificant amount of held-to-maturity assets, the entire category would be reclassified as
available for sale except if sale is due to significant deterioration of the issuer.
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The National Bank of Ras Al-Khaimah (P.S.C.)

Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2015 (continued)

2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
(e¢)  Investment securities (continued)

Available-for-sale: Available-for-sale investments are those non-derivative financial assets
that are designated as available-for-sale or are not classified as (a) loans and advances, (b)
held-to-maturity investments. -

Regular purchases and sales of financial assets at held to maturity and available for sale are
recognised on settlement date.

Financial assets, except assets that are held for trading, are initially recognised at fair value
plus transaction costs. For financial assets acquired for trading, transaction costs are charged
to profit and loss. Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows
from the financial assets have expired or where the Group has transferred substantially all
risks and rewards of ownership.

Available-for-sale financial assets are subsequently carried at fair value. Held-to-maturity
investments are carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Gains and losses arising from changes in the fair value of available-for-sale financial assets
are recognised directly in consolidated statement of comprehensive income, until the
financial asset is derecognised or impaired. At this time, the cumulative gain or loss
previously recognised through the consolidated statement of comprehensive income is
recognised in the income statement.

Foreign currency gains and losses arising on available-for-sale monetary financial assets are
directly recognised in the consolidated income statement.

The fair values of quoted investments in active markets are based on current bid prices, as
the Group considers the bid prices to be most representative of fair value, if the market for a
financial asset is not active (and for unlisted securities), the Group establishes fair value by
using valuation techniques.

Interest earned whilst holding investment securities is reported as interest income in the
consolidated income statement.

Dividends on available-for-sale equity instruments are recognised in the consolidated
income statement when the Group’s right to receive payment is established.

The Group assesses at each financial position date whether there is objective evidence that a
financial asset is impaired. In the case of equity investments classified as available-for-sale,
a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of the security below its cost is
considered in determining whether the asset is impaired. If any such evidence exists for
available-for-sale financial assets, the cumulative loss — measured as the difference between
the acquisition cost and the current fair value, less any impairment loss on that financial
asset previously recognised in profit or loss — is removed from equity and recognised in the
income statement. Impairment losses recognised in the income statement on available-for-
sale equity instruments are not reversed through the income statement, but through other
comprehensive income. Impairment on debt securities classified as available-for-sale and
those held to maturity is assessed as outlined in the accounting policy for impairment of
loans and advances (Note 2(c)).
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The National Bank of Ras Al-Khaimah (P.S.C.)

Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2015 (continued)

2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
() Due from banks

Amounts due from banks are initially recognized at fair value and measured subsequently at
amortised cost using the effective interest method. Impairment of amount due from banks is
assessed as outlined in the accounting policy for loans and advances (Note 2(c)).

(g)  Cash and cash equivalents

In the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand,
money in current and call accounts and placements with original maturity of less than three
months excluding the statutory deposit required to be maintained with the UAE Central
-Bank,

(h)  Derivative financial instruments

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date on which a derivative contract is
entered into and are subsequently remeasured at their fair value. Fair values are obtained
from quoted market prices in active markets, including recent market transactions. The
method of recognising the resulting gain or loss depends on whether the derivative is
designated as a hedging instrument, and if so, the nature of the item being hedged. All
derivatives are carried as assets when fair value is positive and as liabilities when fair value
is negative.

The Group documents at the inception of the transaction the relationship between hedging
instruments and hedged items, as well as its risk management objectives and strategy for
undertaking various hedging transactions. The Group also documents its assessment, both at
hedge inception and on an ongoing basis, of whether the derivatives that are used in hedging
transactions are highly effective in offsetting changes in fair values or cash flows of hedged
items.

The fair values of various derivative instruments are disclosed in note 24.

Fair value hedge

Changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualify as fair value hedges
are recorded in the income statement, together with any changes in the fair value of the
hedged asset or liability that are attributable to the hedged risk. The Group only applies fair
value hedge accounting for hedging fixed interest risk on debt securities issued. The gain or
loss relating to the effective portion of interest rate swaps hedging fixed rate debt securities
issued is recognised in the income statement within ‘Interest expense’. The gain or loss
relating to the ineffective portion is recognised in the income statement within ‘Other
operating income’. Changes in the fair value of the hedge fixed rate debt securities issued
attributable to interest rate risk are recognised in the income statement within ‘Interest

expense’.

If the hedge no longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting, the adjustment to the carrying
amount of a hedged item for which the effective interest method is used is amortised to
profit or loss over the period to maturity.
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The National Bank of Ras Al-Khaimah (P.S.C.)

Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2015 (continued)

2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
(i)  Debt securities issued

Debt issued is recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs incutred. After initial
measurement, debt issued is subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest rate. Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium
on the issue and costs that are an integral part of the effective interest rate.

()  Property and equipment

Land and buildings comprise branches, offices and certain residential premises purchased
for occupation of management and staff. Property and equipment is stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation. Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the
acquisition of the items.

Subsequent expenditures are included in the asset’s carrying amount or are recognised as a
separate asset, as appropnate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits
associated with the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured
reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised. All other repair and
maintenance costs are charged to the income statement during the financial period in which
they are incurred.

Land is not depreciated as it is deemed to have an infinite life. Depreciation on other assets
is calculated using the straight-line method to write down the cost of assets to their
estimated residual values over their expected useful economic lives as follows:

Years
Buildings 15-30
Computer equipment and software 4-15
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 4-6
Leasehold improvements 2-6
Motor vehicles 2-4

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the
end of each reporting period.

Capital work in progress is stated at cost and is transferred to the appropriate asset category
when it is brought into use and is depreciated in accordance with the Group’s accounting

policy.

Where the carrying amount of an asset is greater than its estimated recoverable amount, it is
written down immediately to its recoverable amount.

Gains and losses on disposal of property and equipment are determined by comparing the
sales proceeds to the carrying value of the asset disposed and are taken into account in
determining operating income.
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The National Bank of Ras Al-Khaimah (P.S.C.)

Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2015 (continued)

2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
(k)  Employee benefits
i) Defined contribution plan

A defined contribution plan is a post-employment benefit plan under which an entity pays
fixed contributions into a separate entity and will have no legal or constructive obligation to
pay further amounts. Obligations for contributions to defined contribution pension plans are
recognised as an employee benefit expense in consolidated income statement in the periods
during which services are rendered by employees. Pension contributions are made in
respect of UAE national employees to the UAE General Pension and Social Security
Authority in accordance with the UAE Federal Law No (7), 1999 for Pension and Social

Security.
(ii) Defined benefit plan

Provision is for the end of service benefits due to non-UAE nationals in accordance with the
UAE Labour Law for their periods of service up to the financial position date. The present
value of the defined benefit obligation is determined by discounting the estimated future
cash outflows using interest rates of high-quality corporate bonds that are denominated in
the currency in which the benefits will be paid, and that have'terms to maturity
approximating to the terms of the related pension obligation. The provision arising is
disclosed as ‘provision for employees’ end of service benefits’ in the statement of financial
position.

(iii)  Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefit obligations are measured on an undiscounted basis and are
expensed as the related service is provided. A liability is recognised for the amount expected
to be paid under short-term if the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation to pay
this amount as a result of past service provided by the employee and the obligation can be
estimated reliably.

A provision is made for the estimated liability for employees’ entitlements to annual leave
and leave passage as a result of services rendered by the employees up to financial position
date. This provision is included in other liabilities.

() Fiduciary assets
Assets and the income arising on the Bank’s fiduciary activities, where it acts in a fiduciary
capacity such as nominee, trustee or agent, are excluded from these consolidated financial

statements. Income earned by the Group from its fiduciary services is recognised in
accordance with the accounting policy on fees and commission income (Note 2(r)).
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The National Bank of Ras Al-Khaimah (P.S.C.)

Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2015 (continued)

2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

(m) Share capital
(i) Share issue costs

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue
of new shares are shown in equity as a deduction from the proceeds.

(i) Dividends on ordinary shares

Dividends on ordinary shares are recognised in equity in the period in which they are
approved by the Bank’s shareholders.

n) Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a
result of past events, it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic
benefits will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate of the amount of the

obligation can be made.

When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be
recovered from a third party, a receivable is recognised as an asset only if it is virtually
certain that reimbursement will be received and the amount of the receivable can be
measured reliably.

Contingent liabilities, which include certain guarantees and letters of credit, are possible
obligations that arise from past events whose existence will be confirmed only by the
occurrence, or non-occurrence, of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the
Group’s control; or are present obligations that have arisen from past events but are not
recognised because it is not probable that settlement will require outflow of economic
benefits, or because the amount of the obligations cannot be reliably measured. Contingent
liabilities are not recognised in the consolidated financial statements but are disclosed in the
notes to the consolidated financial statements, unless they are remote.

(o) Due to customers

Due to customers are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred. Due
to customers are subsequently carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method.
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The National Bank of Ras Al-Khaimah (P.S.C.)

Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2015 (continued)

2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
2}, Foreign currencies

Items included in the consolidated financial statements of the Group are measured using
UAE Dirhams which is the currency of the primary economic environment in which the
Group operates (‘functional currency’). The consolidated financial statements are presented
in UAE Dirhams. Foreign currency transactions are translated into the UAE Dirham at the
rate ruling on the transaction date. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are translated into UAE Dirhams at the rates ruling at the consolidated statement
of financial position date. Any resultant gains or losses are accounted for in the income
statement other than for items presented in other comprehensive income.

(q) Interest income and expense

Interest income and expense are recognised in the income statement for all instruments
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Interest earned whilst
holding investment securities is reported in interest income in the income statement.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial
asset or a financial liability and of allocating the interest income or interest expense over the
relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future
cash payments or receipts through the expected life of the financial instrument or, when
appropriate, a shorter period to the net carrying amount of the financial asset or financial
Hiability.

Once a financial asset or a group of similar financial assets has been written down as a result
of an impairment loss, interest income is recognised using the rate of interest used to
discount the future cash flows for the purpose of measuring the impairment loss.

(r) Fee and commission income

Fees and commissions, other than loan arrangement fees, are generally recognised when the
service has been provided. Loan commitment fees for loans that are likely to be drawn down
ar¢ deferred and recognised as an adjustment to the effective interest rate on the loan.
Portfolio and other management advisory and service fees are recognised based on the
applicable service contracts, usually on a time-proportionate basis. Fees eamed on the
Bank’s fiduciary activities are recognised over the period in which the service is provided.
The same principle is applied to custody services that are continuously provided over an
extended period of time.

(s) Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the consolidated
statement of financial position when there is a legally enforceable right to offset the
recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or realise the asset and
settle the liability simultaneously.
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The National Bank of Ras Al-Khaimah (P.S.C.)

Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2015 (continued)

2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
0] Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided
to the chief operating decision-maker. The chief operating decision-maker is the person or
group that allocates resources to and assesses the performance of the operating segments of
an entity. All transactions between business segments are conducted on an arm’s length
basis, with intra-segment revenue and costs being eliminated. Income and expenses directly
associated with each segment are included in determining business segment performance. In
accordance with IFRS 8, the Bank has the following business segments: retail banking,
business banking and treasury.

() Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination are measured on initial recognition at
cost, which is their fair value as at the date of acquisition. Following initial recognition,
intangible assets are carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation and any accumulated
impairment losses.The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed to be either finite or
indefinite.

Intangible assets with finite lives are amortised over the useful economic life and assessed
for impairment whenever there is an indication that the intangible asset may be impaired.
The amortisation period and the amortisation method for an intangible asset with a finite
useful life are reviewed at least at each financial year end. Changes in the expected useful
life or the expected pattern of consumption of future economic benefits embodied in the
asset are accounted for by changing the amortisation period or method, as appropriate, and
are treated as changes in accounting estimates. The amortisation expense on intangible
assets with finite lives is recognised in the statement of income in the expense category
consistent with the function of the intangible asset.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are tested for impairment annually either
individually or at the cash generating unit level. Such intangibles are not amortised. The
useful life of an intangible asset with an indefinite life is reviewed annually to determine
whether indefinite life assessment continues to be supportable. If not, the change in the
useful life assessment from indefinite to finite is made on a prospective basis.

@) License
The license represents the right to conduct insurance operations, which is granted by the

relevant insurance regulator. This license is assessed as having an indefinite useful life and
included in goodwill.
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The National Bank of Ras Al-Khaimah (P.S.C.)

Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2015 (continued)

2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
(u)  Intangible assets (continued)
(i)  Customer relationships

The value of customer relationships represents the value of tuture cash tflows expected from
renewals and the cross-selling of new products to customers known and identified at the
time of the acquisition and will be amortised on a straight line basis over the estimated
useful life which is 4 years.

©) Insurance contracts
Insurance and reinsurance contracts held

The Group, through its insurance subsidiary RAKNIC, issues contracts that transfer
insurance risks in the general insurance category. The general insurance category comprises
Casualty, Group Life, Financial Lines, Fire, Marine, Energy and Accident and Health.

The Group writes the following types of insurance contracts:

- Accident insurance
-Property insurance
-Motor insurance

-Fire insurance
-Casualty insurance
-Medical insurance
-Marine insurance

- Engineering insurance
-Group life insurance

Provision is made for premium deficiency arising from general insurance contracts where
the expected value of claims and expenses attributable to the unexpired periods of policies
in force at the reporting date exceeds the unearned premiums provision and already
recorded claim liabilities in relation to such policies. The provision for premium deficiency
is calculated by reference to classes of business which are managed together, after taking
into account the future investment return on investments held to back the unearned

premiums and claims provisions.
Insurance and other receivables

Insurance and other receivables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less impairment losses. A
provision for impairment of receivables is established when there is objective evidence that
the Group will not be able to collect all amounts due according to the original terms of
receivables.
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The National Bank of Ras Al-Khaimah (P.S.C.)

Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2015 (continued)

2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
(v} Insurance contracts (continued)
Insurance and other receivables (continued)

Significant financial difficulties of the debtor, probability that the debtor will enter
bankruptcy or financial reorganisation, and default or delinquency in payments are
considered indicators that the receivable is impaired. The amount of the provision is the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future
cash flows, discounted at the effective interest rate.

The carrying amount of the receivable is reduced through the use of an allowance account,
and the amount of the loss is recognised in the income statement within general and
administration expenses. When a receivable is uncollectible, it is written off against the
allowance account for that receivable. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written
off are credited against other operating expenses in the income statement.

Deferred acquisition costs

The costs attributable to the acquisition of new business for insurance contracts and
renewing existing contracts are capitalised as an intangible asset under Deferred Acquisition
Costs (DAC). All other costs are recognised as expenses when incurred. DAC are
subsequently amortised over the life of the contracts as premium is earned.

Deferred acquisition costs are reviewed by category of business at the end of each reporting
period and are written off where they are no longer considered to be recoverable.

i) Classification

The Group issues contracts that transfer either insurance risk or both insurance and financial
risks.

Contracts under which the Company accepts significant insurance risk from another party
(the policyholder) by agreeing to compensate the policyholder if a specified uncertain future
event (the insured event) adversely affects the policyholder are classified as insurance
contracts. Insurance risk is significant if an insured event could cause the Company to pay
significant additiona! benefits due to happening of the insured event compared to its non
happening.

Insurance contracts may also transfer some financial risk. Financial risk is the risk of a
possible future change in one or more of a specified interest rate, security price, commodity
price, foreign exchange rate, index of prices or rates, credit rating or credit index or other
variable, provided in the case of a non-financial variable that the variable is not specific to a
party to the contract.
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The National Bank of Ras Ai-Khaimah (P.S.C.)

Notes to the consclidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2015 (continued)

2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
(v)  Insurance contracts (continued)
Contracts where insurance risk is not significant are classified as investment contracts,

Once a contract is classified as an insurance contract it remains classified as an insurance
contract until all rights and obligations are extinguished or expired.

i1) Recognition and measurement
Premiums

Gross premiums written reflect business incepted during the year, and exclude any fees and
other amounts collected with and calculated based on premiums. These are recognised when
underwriting process is complete and policies are issued.

The earned position of premium is recognised as an income. Premiums are earned from the
date of attachment of risk over the indemnity period and unearned premium is calculated
using the basis described below:

Unearned premium provision

Unearned premiums are computed using statistical models to spread premium written evenly
over period of coverage and are at least equal to the minimum stipulated by the UAE
Insurance Law.

iif)  Claims

Claims outstanding comprise provisions for the Group’s estimate of the ultimate cost of
settling all claims incurred but unpaid at the reporting date whether reported or not, and
related internal and external claims handling expense reduced by expected salvage and other
recoveries. Claims outstanding are assessed by reviewing individual reported claims.
Provisions for claims outstanding are not discounted. Adjustments to claims provisions
established in prior periods are reflected in the financial statements of the period in which
the adjustments are made. The methods used, and the estimates made, are reviewed
regularly. Provision is also made for any claims incurred but not reported (“IBNR”) at the
date of statement of financial position on the basis of management estimates..

iv)  Liability adequacy test

At the end of each reporting period, the Group assesses whether its recognised insurance
liabilities are adequate using current estimates of future cash flows under its insurance
contracts. If that assessment shows that the carrying amount of its insurance liabilities is
inadequate in the light of estimated future cash flows, the entire deficiency is immediately
recognised in profit or loss and an unexpired risk provision is created.
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The National Bank of Ras Al-Khaimah (P.S.C.)

Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2015 (continued)

2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
v Insurance contracts (continued)
iv)  Liability adequacy test

Provision is made for premium deficiency arising from general insurance contracts where
the expected value of claims and expenses attributable to the unexpired periods of policies
in force at the reporting date exceeds the unearned premiums provision and already recorded
claim liabilities in relation to such policies. The provision for premium deficiency is
calculated by reference to classes of business which are managed together, after taking into
account the future investment return on investments held to back the unearned premiums
and claims provisions.

V) Reinsurance

The Group cedes reinsurance in the normal course of business for the purpose of limiting its
net loss potential through the diversification of its risks. Assets, liabilities and income and
expense arising from ceded reinsurance contracts are presented separately from the assets,
liabilities, income and expense from the related insurance contracts because the reinsurance
arrangements do not relieve the Group from its direct obligations to its policyholders.

Amounts due to and from reinsurers are accounted for in a manner consistent with the
related insurance policies and in accordance with the relevant reinsurance contracts.
Reinsurance premiums are deferred and expensed using the same basis as used to calculate
unearned premium reserves for related insurance policies. The deferred portion of ceded
reinsurance premiums is included in reinsurance assets.

Reinsurance assets are assessed for impairment at each reporting date. A reinsurance asset is
deemed impaired if there is objective evidence, as a result of an event that occurred after its
initial recognition, that the Group may not recover all amounts due, and that évent has a
reliably measurable impact on the amounts that the Group will receive from the reinsurer.
Impairment losses on reinsurance assets are recognised in statement of profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.

Profit commission in respect of reinsurance contracts is recognised on an accrual basis.
vi)  Deferred acquisition cost
For general insurance contracts, the deferred acquisition cost asset represents the position of

acquisition costs which corresponds to. the proportion of gross premiums written that is
unearned at the reporting date.
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The National Bank of Ras Al-Khaimah (P.S.C.)

Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2015 (continued)

2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
47) Insurance contracts (continued)
vii) Insurance receivables and payables

Amounts due from and to policyholders, agents and reinsurers are financial instruments and
are included in insurance receivables and payables, and not in insurance contract provisions
Or reinsurance assets.

viii) Insurance contract provision and reinsurance assets

Insurance contract liabilities towards outstanding claims are made for all claims intimated to
the Group and stil unpaid at the statement of financial position date, in addition for claims
incurred but not reported. The unearned premium considered in the insurance contract
liabilities comprise the estimated proportion of the gross premiums written which relates to
the pertods of insurance subsequent to the statement of financial position date.

The reinsurers’ portion towards the above outstanding claims, claims incurred but not
reported and unearned premium is classified as reinsurance contract assets in the financial

statements.

3 Cash and balances with the UAE Central Bank

2015 2014

AED’000 AED’000

Cash in hand 802,647 696,244
Balances with the UAE Central Bank 277,835 -
Statutory deposit with the UAE Central Bank 2,827,714 2,521,225
Certificates of deposit with the UAE Central Bank 1,000,000 1,000,000
4,908,196 4,217,469

Statutory deposits maintained with the UAE Central Bank represent deposits at stipulated
percentages of the Bank’s demand, savings, time and other deposits. These are only
available for day-to-day operations under certain specified conditions and cannot be
withdrawn without the Central Bank’s prior approval.

Cash in hand, balances and statutory deposit with the UAE Central Bank are non-interest
bearing. Certificates of deposit carry an interest rate of 0.22% to 0.40 % (2014: 0.40%) per
annum.
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The National Bank of Ras Al-Khaimah (P.S.C.)

Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended

31 December 2015 (continued)

4 Due from other banks

2015 2014

AED’000 AED’000

Placements with other banks 999,523 73,460
Demand deposits 495,858 124,036
Banker’s acceptances 408,567 -
Clearing account balances 2,865 108,451
1,906,813 305,947

Placements with other banks carry an interest rate of 0.08% to 4.25% (2014: 0% to 0.20%)

per annum.

The geographical concentration is as follows

2015 2014

AED’000 AED’000

Banks in the UAE 1,042,530 182,211
Banks outside the UAE 864,283 123,736
1,906,813 305,947
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The National Bank of Ras Al-Khaimah (P.S.C.)

Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended

31 December 2015 (continued)

5 Loans and advances, net

5(a) Loans and advances
Retail banking loans

Wholeszle banking loans
Total loans and advances (5b)
Provision for impairment

Net loans and advances

5(b)  Analysis of loans and advances

Personal loans
Mortgage loans

Credit cards
Auto loans

RAKfinance business loans
Wholesale banking loans

Small and medium business loans
Other retail loans

Total loans and advances

5(c)  Provision for impairment

31 December 2015

Balance brought forward

Impairment charge/ (release) (Note 5(d))
Written off during the year

Balance carried forward

31 December 2014

Balance brought forward

Impairment charge/ (release) (Note 5(d))
Written off during the year

Balance carried forward

2015 2014

AED’000 AED’000

26,113,282 24,785,457

2,429,414 1,020,245

28,542,696 25,805,702
(744,600) (539,227)

27,798,096 25,266,475

2015 2014

AED’000 AED’000

6,361,103 6,936,049

4,098,837 3,897,384

3,379,655 3,037,809

3,158,750 2,833,664

6,221,087 5,766,567

2,429,414 1,020,245

1,461,001 1,187,860

1,432,849 1,126,124

28,542,696 25,805,702

Retail Wholesale
Banking Banking
loans loans Total
AED’000 AED’000 AED’000
508,841 30,386 539,227
1,076,563 31,898 1,108,461
(872,702) (30,386) (903,088)
712,702 31,898 744,600
365,227 30,386 395,613
645,566 - 645,566
(501,952) - (501,952)

508,841 30,386 539,227
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The National Bank of Ras Al-Khaimah (P.S.C.)

Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2015 (continued)

5 Loans and advances (continued)

i(d) ILimpairment charge on loans and advances net of write (back)/off

Retail Wholesale
Banking Banking
loans loans Total
31 December 2015 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000
Impairment charge 1,076,563 31,898 1,108,461
Net recovery during the year (53,056) - (53,056)
1,023,507 31,898 1,055,405
31 December 2014
Impairment charge 645,566 - 645,566
Net recovery during the year (50,235) - (50,235)
595,331 - 595,331

Net recovery mainly represents amounts subsequently recovered from fully written off
loans.

5(e} Impaired loans and advances provision coverage

2015 2014
AED’000 AED’000

Aggregate impaired loans (as reported to the UAE
Central Bank) 914,368 618,762
Provision held 744,600 539,227
Coverage ratio 81.43% 87.15%

The ratio of provision held to aggregate impaired loans (‘coverage ratio’) does not take into
account collateral available, including cash, property and other realisable assets.
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The National Bank of Ras Al-Khaimah (P.S.C.)

Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended

31 December 2015 (continued)

6 Islamic Financing assets

6(a) Islamic financing assets (included in loans and advances-note 5)

Islamic wholesale banking assets
Islamic retail financing assets
Total Islamic financing assets
Provision for impairment

6 (b) Analysis of Islamic financing assets

Islamic salam personal finance
Islamic auto murabaha
Islamic business finance
Islamic Ijara Property finance
Islamic credit cards

Islamic wholesale banking
Islamic finance - Others

7  Investment securities

7(a) Investments

Securities available-for-sale
Quoted equity securities
Unquoted equity securities
Quoted debt securities

Held for trading
Quoted mutual funds fair valued through profit and loss

Securities held-to-maturity
Unquoted debt securities
Quoted debt securities *

Investment securities

2015 2014
AED’000 AED’000
73,252 -
4,459,637 3,402,676
4,532,889 3,402,676
(120,849) (43,217
4,412,040 3,359,459
2015 2014
AED’000 AED’000
1,733,838 1,606,126
1,156,072 876,169
1,025,967 649,578
381,486 128,176
161,531 142,381
73,252 -
743 246
4,532,889 3,402,676
2015 2014
AED’000 AED’000
41,693 18,361
107 -
74,746 41,839
116,546 60,200
3,966 .
220,380 :
3,774,089 3,725,089
3,994,469 3,725,089
4,114,981 3,785,289
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The Nationai Bank of Ras Al-Khaimah (P.S.C.)

Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended

31 December 2015 (continued)

7 Imvestment securities (continued)

7(b) The composition of the investment portfolio by category is as follows:

Federal and local Government — UAE
Government related entity — UAE
Government — GCC

Government related entity - GCC
Banks and financial institutions — UAE
Banks and financial institutions — GCC
Banks and financial institutions — India
Banks and financial institutions — Turkey
Public limited companies — UAE
Public limited companies — India
Total Debt securities

Quoted equity securities

Quoted mutual funds

Unquoted equity securities

Total investment securifies

2015 2014
AED’000 AED’000
702,109 705,654
1,034,464 1,131,698
74,800 37,217
87,478 86,961
590,819 628,659
22,016 58,795
823,897 605,198
220,836 -
185,090 185,213
327,706 327,533
4,069,215 3,766,928
41,693 18,361
3,966 -

107 -
4,114,981 3,785,289

*Quoted debt securities with book value of AED 658.4 million as at 31 December 2015
have been given as collateral against repo borrowings of AED 591.4 million (refer note 16).

7 (¢) Movement in investment securities

Securities Securities Securities
Available held for held to
for sale trading maturity Total

AED’000 AED000 AED’000 AED’000
At 1 January 2014 42,268 - 2,653,684 2,695,952
Pl_lrchascs 50,676 9,359 1,193,920 1,253,955
Disposals / Matured (31,210) (9,359) (106,837) (147,406)
Net changes in fair
value (1,428) - - (1,428)
Amortisation of
discount/(premium) (106) (15,678) (15,784)
At 31 December 2014 60,200 - 3,725,089 3,785,289
Investments acquired on
RAKNIC acquisition 43,450 4,765 3,707 51,922
Purchases 36,986 - 441,173 478,159
Disposal /maturities (3,673) (159,514) (163,187)
Net changes in fair
value through OCI (14,274) - (14,274)
Net changes in fair
value through
Profit and loss (6,000) (799) - (6,799)
Amortisation of
premium (143) : (15,986) (16,129)
At 31 December 2015 116,546 3,066 3,994,469 4,114,981
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The National Bank of Ras Al-Khaimah (P.S.C.)

Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2015 (continued)

9 Insurance contract assets and receivables
2015 2014
AED’000 AEIY000
Reinsurance contract assets
Claims reported unsettled 83,687 -
Claims incurred but not reported 11,044 -
Deferred insurance premium and commission 45,458
Capitation reserve 12,051 -
Deferred acquisition cost 13,329 -
Total reinsurance contract assets 165,569 -
Insurance related receivables
Premium receivables 157,877 -
Reinsurance companies 9,427 -
Insurance agents and brokers 3,165 -
Gross insurance related receivables 170,469 -
Provision for doubtful receivables (10,545) -
Net insurance related receivables 159,924 =
Insurance contract assets and receivables 325,493 -
10  Goodwill and other intangible assets
Goodwill Goodwill
including Intangibles - and other
insurance Customer intangible
license Relationships assets
AED’000 AED’000 AED’000
Cost
As at 1 January 2015 - - s
RAKNIC acquisition 166,386 12,835 179,221
As at 31 December 2015 166,386 12,835 179,221
Accumulated Amortization
As at 1 January 2015 - - -
Charge for the period - (1,872) (1,872)
As at 31 December 2015 - (1,872) (1,872)
Net Book amount
As at 31 December 2015 166,386 10,963 177,349
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The National Bank of Ras Al-Khaimah (P.S.C.)

Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2015 (continued)

10 Goodwill and other intangible assets (continued)

Goodwill and RAKNIC’s insurance license have not been segregated for this purpose. The
goodwill including insurance license acquired through business combination with indefinite
life had been accounted for on a provisional basis till Q3, 2015. As of 31 December 2015
goodwill acquired in the business combination, which represents the excess of cost of the
business combination over the Group's interest in the fair value of the identifiable assets,
including intangibles, liabilities and contingent liabilities of the acquiree, has been finalised
as per IFRS 3 'business combination’,

11  Other assets

2015 2014

AED’000 AED’000

Interest receivable 215,424 182,985
Profit receivable on Islamic financing assets 43,055 36,175
Prepayments and deposits 79,570 59,252
Interest rate swaps 22,625 12,789
Others 64,002 26,062
424,676 317,263

Others includes AED 5.4 million real estate acquired on settlement of a loan given to a
wholesale banking customer. This being a non-cash transaction, it has not been reflected in
the consolidated statement of cash flows.

As per UAE Central Bank regulation, the Bank can hold the real estate assets for a
maximum period of three years and can extend the holding after obtaining Central Bank
approval. The Bank can also rent the property and earn rental income.

Fair valuation of the property is carried out by an independent valuer having an appropriate
professional qualification and is based on recent experience in the location and category of
the property being valued. The property was valued in December 2015.

12  Share capital

The authorised, issued and fully paid share capital comprises 1,676.25 million shares of AED
1 each (2014: 1,676.25 million shares of AED 1 each).

At the meeting of the shareholders held on 9 April 2015, the shareholders of the Bank
approved a cash dividend of 50% of issued and paid up capital amounting to AED 838.12
(2013: AED 838.12 million) for the year 2014. These dividends were paid out during the
second quarter of 2015.
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The National Bank of Ras Al-Khaimah (P.S.C.)

Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2015 (continued)

13  Share premium

Share premium represents amounts received from shareholders in excess of the nominal
value of the shares allotted to them. In accordance with the Articles of Association of the

Bank, share premium is not available for distribution.
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The National Bank of Ras Al-Khaimah (P.S.C.)

Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31

December 2015 (continued)

15  Non-controlling interests

Year ended

31 December

2014
AED’000

For the period

28 May to 31

December

2015

AED’000

Balance at the beginning of the year -
RAKNIC acquisition * 36,178
Profit for the period 4,933

Other comprehensive loss for the period (2,915)
Balance at the end of the year 38,196

*On 28 May 2015, the Bank acquired 79.23% stake in RAKNIC through public offer. Non-
controlling interest on acquisition of AED 36.178 million amounts to 20.77% of the fair value

of net assets on acquisition date.

16 Due to other banks

2015 2014
AED’000 AED’000
Term deposits 462,942 744,067
Repurchase agreements (note 7) 591,403 -
Current account balance with the UAE Central Bank - 16,946
Demand deposits 1,796 794
1,056,141 761,807

17  Deposits from customers
2015 2014
AED’000 AED’000
Time deposits 7,723,523 7,070,328
Current accounts 15,057,746 12,446,336
Savings deposits 3,740,321 3,866,388
Call deposits 1,298,515 1,268,356
27,820,105 24,651,408

Time deposits include AED 484 million (2014: AED 296 million) held by the Bank as cash

collateral for loans and advances granted to customers.
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The National Bank of Ras Al-Khaimah (P.S.C.)

Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31

December 2015 (continued)

18  Islamic customer deposits (included in deposits from customers — note 17)

Wakala investment deposits
Mudaraba term investment deposits
Qard-E-Hasan -current accounts
Mudaraba -current accounts
Mudaraba -savings deposits
Mudaraba-call deposits

19  Debt security in issue

"USD 500 million medium term note issued at discount in
June 2014

USD 300 million medium term note issued at premium in
March 2015

Less : Own investment in debt security issued

Less : Debt security issue costs

Fair value adjustment on hedged debt security in issue

2015 2014
AED’000 AED’000
1,728,368 1,534,249

36,928 76,625
521,847 338,205
1,030,169 485,852
142,794 153,499
30,633 3,032
3,490,739 2,591,552
2015 2014
AED'000 AED'000
1,826,768 1,824,467
1,110,252 -
(84,053) (160,553)
(10,865) (9.074)
22,625 12,789
5.864,727 1,667,629

The Group issued USD 500 million medium term note in June 2014 under its USD 1 billion
medium term note programme through its subsidiary RAKFunding Cayman Limited. The initial
tranche of the note was issued at a discounted rate of 99.275%. In March 2015 second tranche
of USD 300 million notes were issued under this programme at a premium rate of 100.875%.
These notes mature in 2019 and carry a fixed interest rate of 3.25% per annum. Interest on these

medium term notes is payable half-yearly in arrears.
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The National Bank of Ras Al-Khaimah (P.S.C.)

Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2015 (continued)

20 Insurance contract liabilities and payables

2015 2014
AED’000 AED’000
Insurance contract liabilities
Claims reported unsettled 133,230 -
Claims incurred but not reported 25,544 -
Unearned premiums 160,908 -
Total insurance contract liabilities 319,682 -
Insurance related payables
Creditors 7,834
Reinsurance payables 48,371 -
Commission payables 13,896
Total insurance related payables 70,101 -
Insurance contract liabilities and payables 389,783 -
21 Other liabilities
2015 2014
AED’000 AED’000
Interest payable 34,332 26,099
Profit distributable in Islamic customer deposits 22,535 15,629
Accrued expenses 195,275 200,225
Managers cheques issued 119,380 148,036
Others 237,277 143,351
608,799 533,340
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The National Bank of Ras Al-Khaimah (P.S.C.)

Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2015 (continued)

22  Provision for employees’ end of service benefits

2015 2014

AED’000 AED’000

At 1 January 84,852 73,312

Charge for the year 19,305 22,791
Amount acquired on RAKNIC acquisition 3,557 -
Payment during the year (11,663) (11,251)

At 31 December 96,051 84,852

In accordance with the provisions of IAS 19, management has carried out an exercise to assess
the present value of its obligations as at 31 December 2015, using the projected unit credit
method, in respect of employees’ end of service benefits payable under the UAE Labour Law.
The expected liability at the date of leaving the service has been discounted to net present value
using a discount rate of 4.16% (2014: 4.27%). Under this method an assessment has been made
of an employee’s expected service life with the Group and the expected basic salary at the date
of leaving the service. Management has assumed average annual increment/promotion costs of
3.5 % (2014: 3.5%).

23  Contingencies and commitments

2015 2014

AED’000 AED’000

Irrevocable commitments to extend credit 37,646 36,069
Guarantees 723,420 678,812
Letters of credit 76,847 78,868
Acceptances 34,319 50,863
Capital commitments 19,018 10,182
891,250 854,794

Letters of credit and acceptances are written undertakings by the Group on behalf of a customer
authorising a third party to draw drafts on the Baok, up to a stipulated amount, under specific
terms and conditions. These letters of credit and acceptancs are collateralised by the underlying
shipments of goods to which they relate and therefore have significantly less risk.

Guarantees commit the Group to make payment on behalf of customers contingent upon the
production of documents or failure of the customer to perform under the terms of the contract.
Guarantees include AED 100 million guarantee given by the Bank for its subsidiary RAK
Islamic Finance Company.

Cash requirements under guarantees and standby letters of credit are considerably less than the
amount of the commitment because the Bank does not generally expect the third party to draw
funds under the agreement.
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The National Bank of Ras Al-Khaimah (P.S.C.)

Notes to the consclidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2015 (continued)

23  Contingencies and commitments (continued)

Commitments to extend credit represent unused portions of authorisations to extend credit in the
form of loans, guarantees or letters of credit. With respect to credit risk on commitments to
extend credit, the Bank is potentially exposed to loss in an amount equal to the total unused
commitments. However, the likely amount of loss, though not easy to quantify, is considerably
less than the total unused commitments since most commitments to extend credit are contingent
upon customers maintaining specific credit standards. While there is some risk associated with
the remainder of commitments, the risk is viewed as modest, since it results firstly from the
possibility of the unused portion of loan authorisations being drawn by the customer, and
second, from these drawings subsequently not being repaid as due. The Bank monitors the term
to maturity of credit commitments because longer term commitments generally have a greater
degree of risk than shorter term commitments, Commitments to extend credit amounting to
AED 8,618 million (2014 AED 7,768 million} are revocable at the option of the Group and not
included in the above table.

24 Forward foreign exchange and interest rate swap contracts
Forward foreign exchange contracts comprise commitments to purchase foreign currencies on
behalf of customers and in respect of the Group’s undelivered spot transactions. Interest rate

swap contracts comprise deals to convert fixed rate into a floating rate or vice versa.

Outstanding forward foreign exchange transactions at 31 December 2015 and 31 December
2014 are as follows:

Contract Fair

amount value

AED’000 AED’000

31 December 2015. 745,446 235
31 December 2014 980,115 361

Outstanding interest rate swap transactions at 31 December 2015 and 31 December 2014 are as
follows:

Contract
amount Fair value
AED’000 AED’000
31 December 2015 2,850,248 22,625
31 December 2014 1,674,888 12,789

The fair values of the outstanding foreign exchange forward contracts are recorded in other
assets for positive fair value and in other liabilities for negative fair value.
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The National Bank of Ras Al-Khaimah (P.S.C.)

Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31

December 2015 (continued)

25 Interest income and expense

Interest income

Personal loans to nationals and expatriates
Mortgage loans

Credit cards

Auto loans

RAKFinance business loans
Wholesale banking loans

Small and medium business loans
Other retail banking loans
Investment securities

Deposits with the UAE Central Bank
Other banks

Imterest expense

Due to customers

Debt securities issued
Borrowings from other banks

26 Income from Islamic financing and distribution to depositors

Islamic salam personal finance
Islamic auto murabaha

Islamic business finance
Islamic investments

Islamic asset based finance
Islamic property finance

Distribution of profit on Islamic
term investment deposits
Distribution of profit on Islamic demand deposits

2015 2014
AED’000 AED’000
385,630 477,088
180,652 203,473
696,460 639,703
148,673 141,042
068,717 968,897
101,151 40,885
164,982 106,749
73,449 44,728
175,014 157,068
3,745 4,576
3,281 1,110
2,001,754 2,785,319
168,425 189,235
49,969 16,450
5,435 1,431
223,829 207,116
2015 2014
AED’000 AED’000
140,557 100,742
78,084 47,737
174,025 58,229

- 1,333

2,668 -
9,953 1,249
405,287 209,290
29,536 24,624
5,381 5,663
34,917 30,287
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The National Bank of Ras Al-Khaimah (P.S.C.)

Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31

December 2015 (continued)

27  Net fees and commission income

2015 2014
AED’000 AED’000
Personal loans to nationals and expatriates 26,951 30,420
Mortgage loans 31,418 33,042
Credit cards 248,060 209,673
Auto loans 17,488 40,035
RAKFinance business loans 66,936 72,787
Wholesale banking loans 15,191 10,483
Small and medium business loans 44,401 40,326
Fiduciary income 79,051 82,797
Bancassurance 67,333 59,591
Others retail banking 85,421 73,791
682,250 652,945
28  Gross insurance underwriting profit
2015 2014
AED’000 AED’000
Gross insurance premium 238,395 -
Less: insurance premium ceded to reinsurers (57,245 -
Net retained premium 181,150 -
Net change in uneamned premium reserve (11,446)
Net insurance premium 169,704 -
Gross claims incurred (183,998) -
Insurance claims recovered from reinsurers 54,562 -
Net claims incurred (129,436) -
Gross commission earned 5,259 -
Less: commission incurred (8,022} -
Net commission incurred (2,763) -
Gross underwriting profit 37,505 -

The acquisition for RAKNIC was completed on 28 May 2015; the results for RAKNIC have
been consolidated into those of the Group from that day onwards.
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The National Bank of Ras Al-Khaimah (P.S.C.)

Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31

December 2015 (continued)

29 Income from investments

Fair value (loss) / income
Dividend income

30  Operating expenses

Staff costs (Note 31)
Occupancy costs

Marketing expenses
Depreciation and amortisation
Communication costs

Legal and consultancy fees
Computer expenses
Outsourced staff costs

Others

31 Staff costs

Salaries, allowances and bonus
Pension

End of service benefits

Others

2015 2014
AED’000 AED’000
(6,800) 4,261
632 2,174
(6,168) 6,435
2015 2014
AED’000 AED’000
614,646 612,814
94,634 93,119
32,648 35,500
123,174 130,000
51,034 49,209
52,687 50,512
77,583 75,881
367,544 378,068
64,557 80,116
1,478,507 1,505,219
2015 2014
AED’000 AED’000
564,362 557,162
5,073 11,594
15,564 17,968
29,647 26,090
614,646 612,814




The Natienal Bank of Ras Al-Khaimah (P.S.C.)

Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2015 (continued)

32  Earnings per share

The basic earnings per share are calculated by dividing the net profit attributable to the
shareholders of the Bank by the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the
period. In accordance with IAS 33 “Earnings Per Share”, the impact of bonus shares issued has
been considered retrospectively while computing the weighted average number of ordinary
shares during all periods presented.

2015 2014
Net profit atiributable to the shareholders for the year in
AED 000’s 1,400,387 1,454,602
Weighted average number of shares in issue in 000’s 1,676,245 1,676,245
Basic earnings per share in AED 0.84 0.87

There were no potentially dilutive shares as at 31 December 2015 and 2014.

33 Dividends

At the meeting held on 2 February 2016, the Board of Directors proposed 2 cash dividend of 50
% amounting to AED 838.12 million of the issued and paid up capital in respect of the year
ended 31 December 2015 (2014: 50% cash dividend amounting to AED 838.12 million).

Dividends are not accounted for until they have been approved at the Annual General Meeting

and, accordingly, the proposed dividend will be accounted for as an appropriation of retained
earnings of the year ended 31 December 2015 after it has been approved by the shareholders.
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The National Bank of Ras Al-Khaimah (P.S.C.)

Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2015 (continued)

34 Related party transactions and balances

Related parties comprise shareholders, key management, businesses controlled by shareholders
and directors as well as businesses over which they exercise significant influence. During the
year, the Group entered into significant transactions with related parties in the ordinary course
of business and on normal commercial terms. The transactions and balances arising from these
transactions are as follows:

2015 2014
AED’000 AED’000
Transactions during the year
Interest/profit income 213 421
Interest/profit expense 14,245 8,588
Commission income 638 1,222
Directors’ remuneration 7,592 8,286
Remuneration payable to key management personnel 12,772 19,586
Balances at 31 December:
Loans and advances:
- Shareholders and their related companies 129 -
- Directors and their related companies 131 220
- Key management personnel 5,050 6,386
5,310 6,606
Due to customers:
- Sharcholders and their related companies 1,683,511 1,349,557
- Directors and their related companies 12,945 66,728
- Key management personnel 9,540 3,915
1,705,996 1,420,200
Irrevocable commitments, contingent liabilities and
forward contracts
- Shareholders and their related companies 140,179 122,860
- Directors and their related companies 423 456
140,602 123,316
Insurance related receivables
- Due from policy holders 19,312 -
Insurance related payabies
- Due to policy holders 614 -

(53)



The National Bank of Ras Al-Khaimah (P.S.C.)

Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2015 (continued)

35 Cash and cash equivalents

2015 2014
AED’000 AED’000
Cash in hand (Note 3) 802,647 696,244
Current account balance with the UAE Central Bank
(Note 3) 277,835 -
Due from other banks (Note 4) 1,906,813 305,947
_ 2,987,295 1,002,191
Less : Due from other banks with original maturity of
3 months or more (547,446) -
2,439,849 1,002,191

36 Segment analysis

Following the management approach of IFRS 8, operating segments are reported in accordance
with the internal reporting to the management, which is responsible for allocating resources to
the reportable segments and assesses its performance. All operating segments used by the Group
meet the definition of a reportable segment under IFRS 8.

The Group has four main business segments:

e Retail banking — incorporating individual customer and small and medium entities current
accounts, savings accounts, deposits, credit and debit cards, individual and small and
medium entities’ customer loans and mortgages;

e Wholesale banking — incorporating transactions with corporate bodies including government
and public bodies and comprising of loans, advances, deposits and trade finance transactions
of customers and financial institutions; and

» Treasury — incorporating activities of the dealing room, related money market, and foreign
exchange transactions and hedging activities with other banks and financial institutions
including the UAE Central Bank, none of which constitute a separately reportable segment.

e Insurance business — incorporating all insurance related transactions of its subsidiary Ras
Al Khaimah National Insurance Company PSC

The above segments include conventional and Islamic products and services of the Group.

As the Group’s segment operations are all financial with a majority of revenues deriving from
interest and fees and commission income, the management relies primarily on revenue and
segmental results to assess the performance of the segment.

Funds are ordinarily allocated between segments, resulting in funding cost transfers disclosed in
inter-segment revenue. Interest charged for these funds is based on the Bank’s funds transfer
pricing policy. There are no other material items of income or expense between the business
segments.

The Group’s management reporting is based on a measure of net profit comprising net interest
income, loan impairment charges, net fee and commission income, other income and non-

interest expenses.
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The National Bank of Ras Al-Khaimah (P.S.C.)

Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2015 (continued)

37  Fiduciary activities

The Group holds assets in a fiduciary capacity for its customers without recourse to itself. At 31
December 2015, such assets amounted to AED 1,786 million (2014: AED 1,775.5million) and
are excluded from these consolidated financial statements of the Bank.

38 Legal proceedings

The Bank is involved in various legal proceedings and claims arising in the ordinary course of
business. While the outcome of these matters cannot be predicted with certainty, management
does not believe that these matters will have a material adverse effect on the Bank’s
consolidated financial statements if settled unfavourably.

The Bank’s subsidiary, RAKNIC in common with other insurance companies, is involved as
defendant in a number of legal cases in respect of its underwriting activities. A provision is
made in respect of each individual case where it is probable that the outcome would result in a
loss to the Group in terms of an outflow of economic resources and a reliable estimate of the
amount of outflow can be made.

39 Reclassification

Previous year’s numbers are reclassified and regrouped to conform to the current year
classification.

40 Business combination

On 28 May 2015 the Bank acquired a 79.23% stake in insurance provider Ras Al Khaimsh
National Insurance Company PSC (RAKNIC) operating in UAE through a public offer made
to shareholders of RAKNIC. Management assessed the acquisition as a business combination
under IFRS 3, ‘Business Combinations’. As a result of the acquisition, the Bank further
consolidated its position in the insurance market which was earlier through its Bancassurance

window.
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The National Bank of Ras Al-Khaimah (P.S.C.)

Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2015 (continued)

40 Business combination (continued)

The following table summarises the consideration paid for acquisition and the fair value of
identifiable assets acquired at the acquisition date:

AED’000

Consideration
Total cash consideration (a) 317,244
Recognised amounts of identifiable intangible assets
acquired

Book value Fair Value
Property and equipment 9,092 19,209
Investment securities 54,320 34,320
Cash and cash equivalents 113,288 113,288
Net receivables 56,914 7,384
Value of identifiable net assets on acquisition - (b) 233,614 174,201
Fair value of identifiable net assets acquired : (b x
79.23%) - (¢) 138,023
Intangibles :
Customer relationships 12,835
Total Intangibles ( Note 10) ~ (d) 12,835
Goodwill including insurance license (Note 10) : (a) -
(©) - 166,386
Cash consideration transferred 317,244
Cash & cash equivalents acquired (113,288)
Net cash cut flow on RAKNIC acquisition 203,956

The insurance business has reported an operating income of AED 39,235 thousand and net
profit of AED 12,672 thousand since 28 May 2015. If the acquisition had occurred on 01
January 2015, the acquired operating income and net profit would have been estimated at AED
47.6 million and AED 23.1 million respectively.

In addition to the insurance license acquired, the goodwill acquired can be attributed to the well
positioned business of RAKNIC which has an established franchise and reputation in UAE.
RAKNIC has a sound management team and skilled workforce with strong sales and risk
management skills, There are substantial synergies of the acquisition with the Bank which will
be exploited in the future.
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Neotes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2015 (continued)

41 Financial risk management
41.1 Risk management review

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks and those activities involve the
analysis, evaluation, acceptance and management of some degree of risk or combination of
risks. Taking risk is core to the financial services business. The Group’s aim is therefore to
achieve an appropriate balance between risk and return and minimise potential adverse effects
on the Group’s financial performance.

The Groups’s risk management policies are designed to identify and analyse these risks, to set
appropriate risk limits and controls, and to monitor the risks and adherence to limits by means
of reliable and up-to-date information systems. The Group regularly reviews its risk
management policies and systems to reflect changes in markets, products and emerging best
practice.

41.2 Credit risk

Credit risk is defined as the risk that the Group’s customers, clients or counter parties fail to
perform or are unwilling to pay interest, repay the principal or otherwise to fulfil their
contractual obligations under loan agreements or other credit facilities, thus causing the Group
to suffer a financial loss.

Credit risk also arises through the downgrading of counter parties, whose credit instruments are
held by the Group, thereby resulting in the value of the assets to fall. As credit risk is the
Group’s most significant risk, considerable resources, expertise and controls are devoted to
managing this risk within the core departments of the Bank.

The Group’s credit policy provides for the development of a systematic and consistent approach
to identifying and managing borrower and counter party risks contained in all retail and
wholesale banking assets.

The divisional heads of retail and wholesale credit and their team including collections are
responsible for recognition and management of credit risk both at transaction and portfolio
levels and to ensure that risk procedures are adhered to in a manner consistent with the
framework set out in the Credit Policy, Product Programs Guidelines, Credit circulars and
comply with regulatory norms.

The Group manages, limits and controls concentration of credit risk wherever it is identified —
in particular, to individual counterparties and groups, and to industries and countries. The
Group has a Product Program Guide that sets limits of exposure and lending criteria. The Group
also has credit limits that set out the lending and borrowing limits to/from other banks.
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The National Bank of Ras Al-Khaimah (P.S.C.)

Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2015 (continued)

41 Financial risk management (continued)
41.2  Credit risk (continued)

The Group stratifies the levels of credit risk it undertakes by placing limits on the amount of risk
accepted in relation to one borrower, or groups of borrowers, and to geographical and industry
segments. Such risks are monitored on an ongoing basis. Limits on the level of credit risk by
product, industry sector and by country are approved by the Credit Committee and the Board of
Directors.

The exposure to any one borrower, including banks, is further restricted by sub-limits covering
on- and off-balance sheet exposures, and daily delivery risk limits in relation to trading items
such as forward foreign exchange contracts. Actual exposures against limits are monitored on an
ongoing basis.

The Group has in place policies which govern the determination of eligibility of various
collaterals including credit protection, to be considered for credit risk mitigation which includes
the minimum operational requirements that are required for the specific collateral to be
considered as effective risk mitigants. The Group’s major collaterals are mortgaged properties,
investments, vehicles & other register-able assets.

The collateral is valued periodically ranging from quarterly to annually, depending on the type
of collateral. Specifically for mortgaged property, a framework for valuation of mortgaged
properties is established to ensure adequate policies and procedures are in place for efficient and
proper conduct of valuation of mortgaged properties and other related activities in relation to the
interpretation, monitoring and management of valuation of mortgaged properties.

41.2.1 Maximum exposure to credit risk before collateral held or other credit

enhancements
‘ Maximum exposure

2015 2014
AED’000 AED’000

Credit risk exposures relating to on-balance sheet assets are as follows:
Due from banks 1,906,813 305,947

Loans and advances:

Loans to retail customers 25,400,580 24,276,616
Loans to wholesale banking customers 2,397,516 989,859
Insurance contract assets 254,655 -
Invesiment securities 4,114,981 3,785,289
Other assets 282,280 239,476

Credit risk exposures relating to off-balance sheet items are as follows:
Loan commitments and other off balance sheet items 872,232 844,612
35,229,057 30,441,799
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The National Bank of Ras Al-Khaimah (P.S.C.)

Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2015 (continued)

41 Financial risk management (continued)
41.2  Credit risk (continued)

41.2.1 Maximum exposure to credit risk before coliateral held or other credit
enhancements (continued)

The above table represents a worst case scenatio of credit risk exposure to the Group at
31 December 2015 and 2014 without taking account of any collateral held or other credit
enhancements attached. For on-balance-sheet assets, the exposures set out above are based on
net carrying amounts as reported in the consolidated statement of financial position.

As can be seen above, the most significant exposures arise from loans and advances to
customers (including commitments) and amounts due from banks.

Management is confident in its ability to continue to control and minimise the loss arising from
its exposure to credit risk resulting from its loans and advances portfolio, investment securities
portfolio and amounts due from banks based on the following:

. 90% (2014: 93%) of the loans and advances are categorised in the top grades of the
Bank’s internal grading system.
s Mortgage loans, loan against investments, asset based finance and auto loans, which

are backed by collateral together, represent a significant portion 31% (2014: 30 %) of
loans and advances.

® 6.2 % (2014: 7.2%) of the loans comprise of restructured loans, where the Group has
aligned its lending rates to current prevailing market lending rates and extended or
modified payment arrangements to manage credit risk.

* The Bank continuously reviews its credit and credit underwriting policies and changes
are made based on the Management Information System (MIS) reports and the patterns
that emerge from these reports.

o A significant portion of investment securities comprise debt instruments that are issued
by government, reputable quasi-government organisations and financial institutions.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2015 (continued)

41 Financial risk management (continued)
41.2  Credit risk (continued)
41.2.2 Loans and advances to customers and amounts due from banks

Loans and advances to customers and amounts due from banks are summarised as follows:

31 December 2015 31 December 2014
Loans and Amounts Loans and
advances due advances Amounts
to from to due from
customers banks customers banks
AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000
Neither past due nor
impaired 25,683,132 1,906,813 24,050,663 305,947
Past due but not impaired 1,945,196 - 1,136,277 -
Individually impaired 914,368 - 618,762 - -
Gross 28,542,696 1,906,813 25,805,702 305,947
Less: allowance for
impairment (744,600) - (539,227) -
Net 27,798,096 1,906,813 25,266,475 305,947
Neither past due nor impaired
31 December 2015 31 December 2014
Loans and Amounts
advances Amounts Loans and due
to due from advances to from
customers banks customers banks
AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000
Loans and advances
- Retail loans 23,429,804 - 23,070,028 -
- Wholesale Banking
loans 2,253,328 - 980,635 -
Due from banks 1,906,813 - 305,947
Gross 25,683,132 1,906,813 24,050,663 305,947

Loans and advances

The Group uses the grading of loans into ditferent buckets in assessing the impairment loss in
the Group’s loan portfolio.The credit quality of the portfolio of loans and advances that were
neither past due nor impaired can be assessed by reference to the internal rating system adopted
by the Group.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2015 (continued)

41 Financial risk management (continued)

41.2  Credit risk (continued)
41.2.2 Loans and advances to customers and amounts due from banks (continued)

Retail banking loans are graded into buckets according to the number of installments past due.
All loans that are not in default of interest payment and installment are graded as bucket 0,
while loans and advances that are in default of interest payment and installments are graded
upwards from bucket 1 onwards, depending on the number of days past due. The wholesale
banking credit matrix is used to rate Wholesale Banking loans under various characteristics.
There are nine categories of performing loans and one category of non-performing loans. These
ratings are reviewed at least once a year, or more frequently as required. Loans and advances are
classified as delinquent after 90 days of non-payment of interest and installments. The credit
policy has set internal lending limits for various industry exposures. The wholesale banking
loan portfolio is reviewed on a quarterly basis.

Amounts due from banks

The Group held amounts due from banks of AED 1,907 million (2014: 306 million) which
represents its maximum credit exposure on these assets. The balance due from banks includes
AED 999.5 million (2014: AED 73.5 million) piacements with banks and banker’s acceptances
of AED 408.6 million (2014: Nil). Remaining balances due from banks and other financial
institutions are held with reputable organisations within and outside UAE, where the risk of
default is considered low.

Past due but not impaired

Loans and advances less than 90 days past due are not considered impaired in a collective
assessment. Gross amount of loans and advances by class of customers that were past due but
not impaired are as follows:

31 December 2015 31 December 2014
Wholesale Wholesale
Retail Banking Retail Banking
loans loans Total loans loans Total

AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000

Past due up to 30 day 1,067,084 62,905 1,129,989 697,801 1,316 699,117
Past due 30 to 60

days 450,914 29,907 480,821 272,203 508 272,711
Past due more than

60 days 330,346 4,040 334,386 164,449 - 164,449
Total 1,848,344 96,852 1,945,196 1,134,453 1,824 1,136,277
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2015 (continued)

41  Financial risk management (continued)

41.2 Credit risk (continued)

41.2.2 Loans and advances to customers and amounts due from banks {continued)
Individually Impaired

The breakdown of the gross amount of individually impaired loans and advances, Islamic

financing assets along with the fair value of related collateral held by the bank as security, are as
follows:

31 December 2015 31 December 2014
Wholesale Wholesale
Retail Banking Retail Banking
loans ' loans Total leans ioans Total

AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000  AED’000

Individually

impaired loans 835,134 79,234 914,368 580,976 37,786 618,762
Fair value of

collateral (268,037) - (268,037) (220,415) (9,570)  (229,985)
Net 567,097 79,234 646,331 360,561 28,216 388,777

The total impairment provision for loans and advances is AED 744.6 million (2014: AED 539.2
million) of which AED 657.9 million (2014: AED 436.2 million) represents provision in respect
of the individually impaired loans and advances and the remaining AED 86.7 million (2014:
AED 103.0 million) represents the portfolio provision to reflect the risk inherent in the Group’s
loan portfolio. AED 268.0 million fair value of collateral shown above under retail loans
represents AED 259.7 million fair value of collateral against mortgage loans and AED 8.3
million against small and medium business loans.

(64)



The National Bank of Ras Al-Khaimah (P.S.C.)

Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31

December 2015 (continued)
41
41.2 Credit risk (continued)

Financial risk management (continued)

41.2.2 Loans and advances to customers and amounts due from banks (continued)

Restructured loans and advances

Restructuring activities include interest rate adjustments, extended payment arrangements and
modification of payments. The majority of restructuring activity is undertaken to improve cash
flow and is within the terms and conditions of the Group’s product programme guideline. These
policies are kept under continuous review. The Group has reviewed the entire portfolio has
reported only restructured loan with financial difficulties under this note. The table below
presents loans restructured during the year 2015 and 2014.

Loans restructured during the year

2015 2014

Loan Loan
Product No of Amount No of Amount
Accounts AED’000 Accounts AED’000

Personal loans to nationals and
expatriates 692 394,083 867 500,058
Mortgage loans 8 12,999 13 34,207
Credit cards 1,266 54,724 995 37,120
Auto loans 600 53,270 198 15,847
Small and mediym business loan 14 11,722 - -
Wholesale banking loans 8 36,484 - -
RAKfinance business loans 373 202,009 272 113,024
Total 2,961 765,291 2,345 700,256

The table below presents restructured loan portfolio outstanding as at 31 December
Restructured loans
2015 2014

Loan Loan
Product Ne of Amount No of Amount
Accounts AED’000 Accounts AED’000

Personal loans to nationals and
expatriates 1,939 1,123,081 2,356 1,383,423
Mortgage loans 60 137,969 75 187,085
Credit cards 3,873 71,472 3,448 50,798
Auto loans 799 63,207 313 20,105
Small and medium business loans 14 10,076 - -
Wholesale banking loans 9 36,053 1 3,312
RAKfinance business loans 754 315,923 588 208,240
Total 7,448 1,757,781 6,781 1,852,963
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2015 (continued)

41 Financial risk management (continued)

41.2 Credit risk (continued

41.2.3 Investment securities

Investment securities comprise debt securities issued by the Government, organisations which
are quasi-governmental and local and foreign reputable organisations.

The table below presents an analysis of debt securities by rating agency designation at
31 December 2015 and 2014, based on Moody’s and Fitch ratings or their equivalent.

2015 2014

AED’000 AED’000

AA to A- 1,109,814 1,058,102
BBB+ to BBB- 1,840,778 1,798,246
Unrated 1,118,623 910,580
Total 4,069,215 3,766,928

The unrated securities include bonds/ Sukuks of Dubai Department of Finance amounting to
AED 702.1million (2014 AED 705.7 million), Emirates Airlines amounting to AED 192.4
million (2014 204.9 million), Credit linked notes amounting to AED 220.4 million (2014: Nil)
and Nakheel (Dubai government related entity) Sukuk amounting to 3.7million (2014: Nil) .
The management is comfortable with the above unrated instruments.

41.2.4 Repossessed collateral

The Group occasionally takes possession of mortgaged property which is held as collateral for
loans. During the year, the Group took possession of a property with market value of AED 5.4
million mortgaged by a wholesale banking customer. The acquired property is reported under
other assets of the Group’s balance sheet.

In the case of retail auto loans and wholesale banking asset based finance where the underlying
asset is repossessed as a part of recovery process, these are disposed of in an auction by
authorised third parties and the Bank does not carry any such assets in its books.

41.2.5 Concentration of risks of financial assets with credit risk exposure

Concentrations arise when a number of counterparties are engaged in similar business activities,
or activities in the same geographic region, or have similar economic features that would cause
their ability to meet contractual obligations to be similarly affected by changes in economic,
political or other conditions. Concentrations indicate the relative sensitivity of the Bank’s
performance to developments affecting a particular industry or geographical location.

In order to avoid excessive concentrations of risk, the Group’s policies and procedures include

specific guidelines to limit concentrations of exposures to counterparties, geographies and
industries. Identified concentration of credit risk is controlled and managed accordingly.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
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41  Financial risk management (continued)

41.2 Credit risk (continued)

41.2.5 Concentration of risks of financial assets with credit risk exposure (continued)
Geographical risk concentration

The following table breaks down the Group’s credit exposures at their carrying amounts,
categorised by geographical region as of 31 December 2015 and 2014.

For this table, the Group has allocated exposures to regions based on the country of domicile of
its counterparties:

41.2.5 Concentration of risks of financial assets with credit risk exposure (continued)

On balance sheet items

UAE OECD Others Total
31 December 2015 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000
Due from banks 1,042,529 668,062 196,222 1,906,813
Loans and advances
- Retail banking 25,128,442 124,287 147,851 25,400,580
- Wholesale banking 1,670,397 632,224 04,895 2,397,516
Insurance contract assets 249,036 - 5,619 254,655
Investment securities
- Held-to-maturity 2,475,385 220,836 1,298,248 3,994,469
- Available-for-sale 78,898 - 37,648 116,546
-Held for trade 3,966 . - 3,966
Other assets 282,280 - - 282,280
Total 30,930,933 1,645,409 1,780,483 34,356,825
31 December 2014 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000
Due from banks 182,211 114,373 9,363 305,947
Loans and advances
- Retail Banking 24,020,000 89,876 166,740 24,276,616
- Wholesale Banking 986,980 - 2,879 989,859
Investment securities
- Held-to-maturity 2,609,385 - 1,115,704 3,725,089
- Available-for-sale 60,200 - - 60,200
Other assets 239,476 - - 239,476
Total 28,098,252 204,249 1,294,686 29,597,187
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41 Financial risk management (continued)

41.2 Credit risk (continued)

41.2.5 Concentration of risks of financial assets with credit risk exposure (continued)

Off balance sheet items \
UAE OECD Others Total
AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000
31 December 2015
Credit commitments 37,646 - - 37,646
Guarantees, acceptances and
other exposures 813,401 5,381 15,804 834,586
851,047 5,381 15,804 872,232
31 December 2014
Credit commitments 35,521 - 548 36,069
Guarantees, acceptances and '
other exposures 799,607 3,085 5,851 808,543
835,128 3,085 6,399 844,612
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The National Bank of Ras Al-Khaimah (P.S.C.)

Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2015 (continued)

41  Financial risk management (continued)
41.2.1 Credit risk (continued)

41.2.7 Individually impaired loans by industry

The breakdown of the gross amount of individually impaired loans and advances by industry is

as follows:
Overdue
Less than above 90 Specific
90 days Days Total Provision
AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000
31 December 2015
Manufacturing s 12,448 12,448 12,655
Construction 1,212 20,718 21,930 20,674
Trading 29,314 276,353 305,667 252,653
Transport, storage &
communication 3,543 45,554 49,097 45,425
Services 5,769 68,587 74,356 71,458
Retail and consumer banking 28,323 422,547 450,870 255,038
Total impaired loans 68,161 846,207 914,368 657,903
Overdue
Less than above 90 Specific
90 days Days Total Provision
AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000
31 December 2014
Manufacturing - 2,758 2,758 2,689
Construction 1,323 39,959 41,282 33,913
Trading 276 47,193 47,469 47,469
Transport, storage &
communication - 6,436 6,436 6,436
Financial institution - 157 157 157
Services 1,242 23,543 24,785 24,562
Retail and consumer banking 15,253 480,622 495,875 321,001
Total impaired loans 18,094 600,668 618,762 436,227
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The National Bank of Ras Al-Khaimah (P.S.C.)

Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2015 (continued)

41  Financial risk management (continued)

41.2.8 Offsetting financial instruments

The Group has not entered in significant master netting arrangement with counterparties which
enable settlement of transactions on a net basis. In absence of such agreements the financial
asset and liabilities are settled on gross basis.

41.3 Market risk

The Group takes on exposure to market risk, which is the risk that the fair value or future cash
flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market prices. Market risks
arise from open positions in interest rate, currency and equity instruments, all of which are
exposed to general and specific market movements and changes in the level of volatility of
market rates or prices such as interest rates, credit spreads, foreign exchange rates and equity
prices.

The Asset and Liability Committee (ALCOQ) is chaired by the Chief Executive Officer and
comprises the Divisional heads of Finance, Treasury, Risk, Operations, Wholesale Banking and
Retail Banking. It meets on a regular basis to monitor and manage market risk.

ALCO is responsible for formalising the Group’s key financial indicators and ratios, sets the
thresholds to manage and meonitor the market risk and alsc analyses the sensitivity of the
Group’s interest rate and maturity mis-matches. ALCO also guides the Group’s investment
decisions and provides guidance in terms of interest rate and currency movements.

Further the Group does not enter into derivative trades for speculative purposes. The only
exposure to derivatives is in respect of forward exchange contracts which are entered to meet

customer needs or interest rate swaps for economic hedging purposes.

41.3.1 Price risk

The Group is exposed to price risk as a result of its holdings in debt securities classified as
available-for-sale investment securities. The fair values of investments quoted in active markets
are based on current bid prices Senior management meets regularly to discuss the return on
investment and concentration across the Group’s investment portfolio.

The sensitivity analysis for price risk illustrates how changes in the fair value of securities held
by the Group will fluctuate because of changes to market prices whether those changes are
caused by factors specific to the individual issuer, or factors affecting all similar securities
traded in the market.
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The National Bank of Ras Al-Khaimah (P.S.C.)

Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2015 (continued)

41  Financial risk management (continued)

41.3.2 Interest rate risk

Cash flow interest risk is the risk that the future cash flows of a financial instrument will
fluctuate because of changes in market interest. Fair value interest rate risk is the risk that the
value of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. The
Group takes on exposure to the effects of fluctuations in the prevailing levels of market interest
rates on both its fair value and cash flow risks. Interest margins may increase as a result of such
changes but may reduce losses in the event that unexpected movements arise. The Group
monitors interest rate risk through the use of a detailed gap report and stress tests to analyse the
impact of anticipated movements in interest rates.

Financial assets that are not subject to any interest-rate risk mainly comprise investments in
equity investments, cash, balances with central banks excluding certificates of deposit and
property and equipment and other assets.

The Group uses financial simulation tools to periodically measure and monitor interest-rate
sensitivity.
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The National Bank of Ras Al-Khaimah (P.S.C.)

Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2015 (continued)

41 Financial risk management (continued)

41.3 Market risk (continued)

41.3.2 Interest rate risk (continued)

Interest rate risk is assessed by measuring the impact of reasonable possible change in
interest rate movements. The Group assumes a fluctuation in interest rates of 25 basis

points (bps) and estimates the following impact on the net profit for the year and net assets
at that date:

2015 2014
AED’000 AED’000
Fluctuation in interest rates by 25 bps 26,325 18,309

The interest rate sensitivities set out above are worst case scenarios and employ simplified
calculations. They are based on the gap between AED 13,483 million (2014: AED 13,527
million) of interest bearing assets with maturities within one year and AED 22,869 million
(2014: AED 20,374 million) of interest bearing liabilities with maturities within one year.
The sensitivity does not incorporate actions that could be taken by management to mitigate
the effect of interest rate movements.

41.3.3 Currency risk

Currency risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes
in foreign exchange rates and arises from financial instruments denominated in a foreign
currency. Positions are closely monitored and strategies are used to ensure positions are
maintained within established limits.

The Group’s assets are typically funded in the same currency as that of the business

transacted in order to eliminate foreign exchange exposure. However, the Group does
maintain a US dollar open position within limits approved by the Bank’s ALCO.
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The National Bank of Ras Al-Khaimah (P.S.C.)

Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31

December 2015 (continued)

41 Financial risk management (continued)

41.3 Market risk (continued)
41.3.3 Currency risk (continued)

At 31 December 2015, the Bank had the following net exposures denominated in foreign

currencies:

On balance sheet items

At 31 December 2015 AED USD Others Total
AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000

Assets

Cash and balances with the UAE

Central Bank 4,400,330 507,473 393 4,908,196

Due from other banks 748,695 1,032,713 125,405 1,906,813

Loans and advances 26,109,784 1,676,719 11,593 27,798,096

Insurance contract assets 254,655 - - 254,655

Investment securities 49,473 4,065,508 - 4,114,981

Other assets 223,467 58,813 - 282,280

Total assets 31,786,404 7,341,226 137,391 39,265,021

Liabilities

Due to other banks 100,000 955,246 895 1,056,141

Due to customers 23,789,921 3,231,781 798,403 27,820,105

Debt securities issued - 2,864,727 - 2,864,727

Insurance contract liabilities & 389,783 - 389,783

payables

Other liabilities 597,864 9,971 964 608,799

Total liabilities 24,877,568 7,061,725 800,262 32,739,555

Net position of financial

instruments 6,908,836 279,501 (662,871) 6,525,466

At 31 December 2014 AED USD Others Total
AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000

Total assets 28,564,166 5,201,198 49,292 33,814,656

Total liabilities 21,144,901 5,897,934 583,204 27,626,039

Net position of financial

instruments 7,419,265 (696,736) (533,912) 6,188,617

The Group has no significant exposure to foreign currency risk as its functional currency is
pegged to the USD, the currency in which the Bank has the largest net open position at 31
December 2015 and 2014. All currency positions are within limits laid down by ALCO.
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The National Bank of Ras Al-Khaimah (P.S.C.)

Notes to the consolidated financial statements

December 2015 (continued)

41 Financial risk management (continued)

41.3 Market risk (continued)

41.3.3 Currency risk (continued)

Off-balance sheet items

At 31 December 2015

Credit commitments

Guarantees, acceptances,
letter of credit and other
exposures

Total

At 31 December 2014
Credit commitments
Guarantees, letter of credit,

acceptances and other
exposures

Foreign exchange contracts

At 31 December 2015

Foreign exchange contracts
At 31 December 2014

Foreign exchange contracts

for the year ended 31

AED USDb Others Total
AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000
37,646 - - 37,646
541,811 242,307 50,468 834,586
579,457 242307 50,468 872,232
36,069 - - 36,069
539,209 220,584 48,750 808,543
575,278 220,584 48,750 844,612
AED USD Others Total
AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000
408 73,481 671,557 745,446

905 428,159 551,051 980,115
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The National Bank of Ras Al-Khaimah (P.S.C.)

Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2015 (continued)

41 Financial risk management (continued)
41.4 Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group is unable to meet its obligations when they fall due
as a result of customer deposits being withdrawn, cash requirements from contractual
commitments, or other cash outflows, such as debt maturities. Such outflows would deplete
available cash resources for customer lending, trading activities and investments. In extreme
circumstances, lack of liquidity could result in reductions in the balance sheet and sales of
assets, or potentially an inability to fulfil lending commitments. The risk that the Group will
be unable to do so is inherent in all banking operations and can be affected by a range of
institution-specific and market-wide events including, but not limited to, credit events,
systemic shocks and natural disasters.

41.4.1 Liquidity risk management process

The Group manages its liquidity in accordance with Central Bank of the U.A.E.
requirements and the Group’s internal guidelines mandated by ALCO. Based on the
directives of the ALCO, the Treasury manages the liquidity of the Bank.

On the funding side, the Group has a large proportion of its funds in the form of own funds
which reduces the requirement for external funds. The Group relies on deposits from its
relationship based retail and Wholesale banking customers as its primary source of funding
and only on a short term basis relies on interbank borrowings to fund its assets. The Group’s
debt securities typically are issued with maturities of greater than three years. Deposits from
customers generally have shorter maturities and a large portion of them are repayable on
demand as is endemic to these markets. The short term nature of these deposits increases
the Group’s liquidity risk and the bank manages this risk through maintaining competitive
pricing and constant monitoring of market trends. Also, a most of the deposit customers of
the Group are relationship based and based on past trends these deposits that they maintain
are sticky in nature, thus reducing the liquidity risk to a large extent. The Group does not
rely on large ticket deposits and its depositor profile is very diverse leading to a more stable
deposit funding. The Group raised USD 500 million under Euro Medium Term Notes under
USD 1 billion EMTN programme launched in June 2014. In March 2015 a second tranche
of USD 300 million notes were issued under this programme. This helped the Group achieve
long term funding. The Group may raise further amounts through EMTNG.

On the deployment side, the Group maintains a portfolio of highly liquid assets largely made
up of balances with the UAE Central Bank, certificates of deposits issued by the Central
Bank, inter-bank facilities and investment securities including investments in local
government bonds which can be repoed to meet short term liquidity mismatches and be
offloaded to meet longer term mismatches. The Central Bank of the U.A.E. has prescribed
reserve requirements on deposits ranging between 1% and 14% on time and demand
deposits. As a contingency. funding plan, the Group evaluates and keeps ready debt
financing plans which can be quickly executed if required.
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The Natienal Bank of Ras Al-Khaimah (P.S.C.)

Notes to the comnsolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2015 (continued)

41 Financial risk management (continued)
41.4 Liquidity risk (continued)
41.4.1 Liquidity risk management process (continued)

The table below analyses assets and liabilities of the Group into relevant maturity groupings
based on the remaining years from the reporting date to the contractual cash flow date. The
maturities of assets and liabilities and the ability to replace, at an acceptable cost, interest-
bearing liabilities as they mature, are important factors in assessing the liquidity of the
Group and its exposure to changes in interest rates and exchange rates.

The Central Bank of the U.A.E. also imposes mandatory 1:1 loans to stable rescurces ratio
(LSRR) whereby loans and advances (combined with inter-bank placements having a
remaining term of greater than three months) should not exceed stable funds as defined by
the Central Bank of the U.A.E. ALCO monitors loans to stable resources ratios on a daily
basis. The Group on a daily basis also monitors the liquid assets to total assets ratio and the
eligible Liquid Asset Ratio and has set up internal Management Action Triggers to take
suitable corrective actions once the internal thresholds have been reached.

At 31 December 2015, 24.9% (2014: 21.7%) of the Group’s total assets was in liquid assets.
The LSRR as at 31 December, 2015 stood at 83.3 % (2014: 87.9 %) which is significantly
lower than the maximum requirement of 100%. Similarly the Liquid Assets Ratio of the
Group stood at 19.1% (2014: 20.0%) as at 31 December 2015, also reflecting a healthy

liquidity position.
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The National Bank of Ras Al-Khaimah (P.S.C.)

Notes to the comsolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2015 (continued)

41  Financial risk management (continued)

41.4 Liquidity risk (continued)

41.4.1 Liquidity risk management process {continued)

At 31 December
2015

Assets

Cash and balances
with the UAE
Central Bank

Due from other
banks

Loans and advances

Investment securities

Insurance contract
assets and
receivables

Goodwill and other
intangible assets

Property and
equipment, and
other assets

Total

Liabilities and
shareholders*
equity

Due to other banks

Due to customers

Debts security in
issue

Insurance contract
liabilities and
payables

Other liabilities and
provision for
employees’ end of
service benefits

Shareholders’ equity
Total

Net liquidity gap

At 31 December
2014

Total assets

Tota! liabilities and
equity

Net liquidity gap

Upto3 3-12 1-3 3to5 Over 5
months months years years years Total
AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED000 AED’000 AED’000
4,108,196 800,000 - 4,908,196
1,626,443 259,107 21,263 - - 1,906,813
5,648,285 5,324,457 7,691,173 2,733,383 6,400,798 27,798,096
126,808 237,407 619,325 883,907 2,247,534 4,114,981
60,397 247,300 14,638 2,704 454 325,493
3 - - - 177,349 177,349
321,791 91,642 9,059 2,184 897,450 1,322,126
11,891,920 6,959,913 8,355,458 3,622,178 9,723,585 40,553,054
491,227 564,914 - - 1,056,141
23,726,920 3,626,696 466,489 - - 27,820,105
- - - 2,864,727 2,864,727
- 389,783 - - - 389,783
607,263 1,536 - - 96,051 704,850
- - - - 7,717,448 7,717,448
24,825,410 4,582,929 466,489 2,864,727 7,813,499 40,553,054
(12,933,490) 2,376,984 7,888,969 757451 1,910,086 -
8,300,414 5,373,697 9,182,821 1,837,732 10,135,493 34,830,157
22,403,903 3,239,507 _ 315,000 1,667,629 7,204,118 34,830,157
(14,103,489 2,134,190 8,867,821 170,103 2,931,375 -
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The National Bank of Ras Al-Khaimah (P.S.C.)

Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2015 (continued)

41 Financial risk management (continued)
41.4 Liquidity risk (continued)
41.4.1 Liquidity risk management process (continued)

The Group has a large proportion of its liabilities as demand deposits which do not have a
fixed maturity. Although behaviourally these deposits are stable, these have been grouped
under up to 3 months category in accordance with the UAE Central Bank guideline.

41.4.2 Derivative cash flows

The Group’s derivatives that will be settled on a gross basis comprise foreign exchange
contracts.

The table below analyses the Group’s derivative financial instruments that will be settled on
a gross basis into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining period at the reporting
date to the contractual maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual
undiscounted cash flows related to foreign exchange contract. Cash flows from interest rate
swap not included in below note.

Since the interest swap does not have any significant impact on liquidity they have not been
considered in the below table:

Uptol 13 3-12 Over §
month months months 1-5 years years Total
AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000
At 31 December 2015
Foreign exchange
contracts
= Outflow 468,747 55,742 220,957 - - 745,446
— Inflow 468,747 55,742 . 220,957 - - 745,446
At 31 December 2014
Foreign exchange
contracts:
— Qutflow 892,663 87,452 - - - 980,115
— Inflow 892,663 87,452 - - - 980,115
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The National Bank of Ras Al-Khaimah (P.S.C.)

Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31

December 2015 (continued)
41 Financial risk management (continued)
41.4 Liquidity risk (continued)

41.4.3 Off-balance sheet items

No later Over5
than 1 year 1-5 years years Total
AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000
At 31 December 2015
Credit commitments 37,646 - 37,646
Guarantees, acceptances and other
financial facilities 533,496 126,750 174,340 834,586
Total 571,142 126,750 174,340 872,232
At 31 December 2014
Credit commitments 35,096 973 - 36,069
Guarantees, acceptances and other
financial facilities 682,951 125,592 - 808,543
Total 718,047 126,565 - 844,612
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The National Bank of Ras Al-Khaimah (P.S.C.)

Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2015 (continued)

41 Financial risk management (continued)

41.5 Fair values of financial assets and liabilities

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in
an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. Consequently,
differences can arise between the carrying values and fair value estimates of financial assets
and labilities. At 31 December 2015, the carrying value of the Group’s financial assets and
liabilities measured at amortised cost approximate their fair values, except for the below
mentioned financial asset:

Fair value Carrying value
2015 2014 2015 2014
AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000
Financial assets
Investment securities 4,193,318 3,916,880 4,114,981 3,785,289

Investment securities

Investment securities comprise mainly of interest-bearing debt instruments that are held-to-
matutity or instruments is based on quoted market prices. Investment in equity shares i$
based on quoted prices.
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The National Bank of Ras Al-Khaimah (P.S.C.)

Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2015 (continued)

41  Financial risk management (continued)

41,7 Fair value hierarchy

The fair value measurements are categorised into different levels in the fair value hierarchy
based on the inputs to valuation techniques used. The different levels are defined as follows:

Quoted market prices — Level 1

Financial instruments are classified as Level 1 if their values are observable in an active
market. Such instruments are valued by reference to unadjusted quoted prices for identical
assets or liabilities in active markets where the quoted price is readily available, and the
price represents actual and regularly occurring market transactions.

Valuation techniques using observable inputs — Leve] 2

Financial instruments classified as Level 2 have been valued using models whose inputs are
observable in an active market. Valuation based on observable inputs include financial
instruments such as forwards foreign exchange contracts which are valued using market
standard pricing techniques.

Valuation techniques using significant unobservable inputs — Level 3

Financial instruments are classified as Level 3 if their valuation incorporates significant
inputs that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs). A valuation input
is considered observable if it can be directly observed from a transaction in an active
market,

Unobservable input levels are generally determined based on observable inputs of a similar
nature, historical observations or other analytical techniques.

This hierarchy requires the use of observable market data when available. The Bank
considers relevant and observable market prices in its valuations where possible. The table
below analyses recurring fair value measurements for assets and liabilities.
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The National Bank of Ras Al-Khaimah (P.S.C.)

Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2015 (continued)

41 Financial risk management (continued)
41.7 Fair value hierarchy (continued)

The assets measured at fair value as per the hierarchy are disclosed in the table below:

Quoted Significant
market Observable unobservable
prices inputs inputs
31 December 2015 Level 1 Level 2 Tevel3 Total
AED 000 AED 000 AED '000 AED’000
Asset at fair value
Available for sale financial
assets
- Investment securities —
debt 74,746 - - 74,746
- Investment securities —
Equity 28,693 - 107 28,800
- Foreign exchange
contracts - 235 . 235
Derivative financial
instruments - 22,625 - 22,625
Held for trading
-  Investments market
fund 3,966 - - 3,966
Asset at amortised cost
Investment securities 3,865,421 - 220,385 4,085,806
3,972,826 22,860 220,492 4,216,178
31 December 2014
Asset at fair value
Available for sale financial
assets
- Investment securities —
debt 41,839 - - 41,839
- Investment securities —
Equity 18,361 . - 18,361
- Foreign exchange
contracts - 361 - 361
Derivative financial
instruments - 12,789 - 12,789
Asset at amortised cost
Investment securities 3,856,680 - - 3,856,680
3,916,880 13,150 - 3,930,030

All the investments are quoted except foreign exchange contracts and derivative financial
instruments. There are no transfers between levels during the period hence no Level 3
reconciliation is presented.
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41 Financial risk management (continued)
41.8 Fair values of financial assets and liabilities

Fair value is the amount for which an asset could be exchanged or a liability settled between
knowledgeable, willing parties in an arm’s length transaction. Consequently, differences can
arise between the carrying values and fair value estimates of financial assets and liabilities.
At 30 September 2015, the carrying value of the Group’s financial assets and liabilities
approximate their fair values, except for the below mentioned financial assets and liabilities:

Fair value Carrying value
31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December
2015 2014 2015 2014
AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000
Assets
Loans and advances 28,005,631 25,437,913 27,798,096 25,266,475
Investment securities 4,193,318 3,916,880 4,114,981 3,785,289
Cash and balances with
the UAE central Bank 4,911,482 4,217,469 4,908,196 4,217,469
Due from other Banks 1,907,656 305,947 1,906,813 305,947
Total financial assets 39,018,087 33,878,209 38,728,086 33,575,180
Liabilities
Due to banks 1,057,492 761,674 1,056,141 761,807
Due to customer 27,883,754 24,673,563 27,820,105 24,651,408
Debt securities issued 2,864,727 1,667,629 2,864,727 1,667,629
Total financial
liabilities 31,805,973 27,192,866 31,740,973 27,080,844
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41.9 Capital Management

The Bank’s objectives when managing capital, which is a broader concept than the ‘equity’
on the face of statement of financial position, are:

e to comply with the capital requirements set by the Central Bank of United Arab
Emirates;

s to safeguard the Bank’s ability to continue as a going concem and increase the
returns for the shareholders; and

e to maintain a strong capital base to support the development of its business.

Capital adequacy and the use of regulatory capital are monitored on a regular basis by the
Bank’s management, employing techniques based on the guidelines developed by the Basel
Committee and the Central Bank of United Arab Emirates. The required information is filed
with the regulators on a regular basis as required under Basel II standards.

The Bank’s capital management is driven by short- and long-term strategies and
organisational requirements with due consideration to the regulatory, economic and
commercial environment in which the Bank operates.

The Bank seeks to optimise returns on capital, and its objective has always been to maintain
a strong capital base to support business development and to meet regulatory capital
requirements at all times.

41.9.1 Capital structure and capital adequacy as per Basel IT requirement as at 31
December 2015

The Bank is required to report capital resources and risk-weighted assets under the Basel I
Pillar 1 framework, as shown in the following table. The Bank has adopted standardised
approach for calculation of credit risk and market risk capital charge. On operational risk,
alternative standardized approach is followed for capital charge calculation under Pillarl.
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41.9 Capital Management (continued)

41.9.1 Capital structure and capital adequacy as per Basel II requirement as at 31

December 2015 (continued)

Tier 1 capital

Ordinary share capital

Share premium

Statutory and other reserves

Retained earnings (excludes 2015 profit)

Total
Deductions

Investment in RAKNIC
Tier 1 Capital

Tier 2 capital
Total regulatory capital

Risk weighted assets

Credit risk
Market risk

Operational risk
Total risk weighted assets

Capital adeguacy ratio on regulatory capital
Capital adequacy ratio on Tier 1 capital

2015 2014
AED'000 AED'000
1,676,245 1,676,245
110,350 110,350
3,560,228 3,275,608
045,564 614,316
6,292,387 5,676,519
(317,244) :
5,975,143 5,676,519
5,975,143 5,676,519
25,084,932 22,206,238
8,547 29,590
1,735,802 1,498,386
26,829,281 23,734,214
22.27% 23.92%
22.27% 33.92%

Risk assets ratios computed considering the current year profit and without deducting

proposed cash dividend for the year 2015 will be as follows :

Total Tier 1 capital
Total Tier 2 capital
Total capital base

Investment in RAKNIC
Total regulatory capital

Risk asset ratio on total capital base (%)
Risk asset ratio on tier 1 capital base (%)

2015 2014
AED'000 AED'000
7,692,774 7,131,121
7,692,774 7,131,121

(317,244) :
7,375,530 7,131,121
27.49% 30.05%
27.49% 30.05%
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41.9 Capital Management (continued)

41.9.1 Capital structure and capital adequacy as per Basel II requirement as at 31
December 2015 (continued)

The below ratios are computed considering the current year profit net off proposed cash
dividend.

2015 2014

AED'000 AED'000

Total Tier 1 capital 6,854,651 6,292,998
Total Tier 2 capital - -
Total capital base 6,854,651 6,292,998
Investment in RAKNIC (317,244) -
Total regulatory capital 6,537,407 6,292,998
Risk asset ratio on total capital base (%) 24.37% 26.51%
Risk asset ratio on tier 1 capital base (%) 24.37% 26.51%

42 Insurance risk

The Group accepts insurance risk through its written insurance contracts. The Group is
exposed to uncertainty surrounding the timing, frequency and severity of claims under these
contracts.

The principal risk the Group faces under insurance contracts is that the actual claims and
benefit payments or the timing thereof, differ from expectations. This is influenced by the
frequency of claims, severity of claims, actual benefits paid and subsequent development of
long-term claims. Therefore, the objective of the Group is to ensure that sufficient reserves
are available to cover these liabilities.

The above risk exposure is mitigated by diversification across a large portfolio of insurance
contracts. The variability of risks is also improved by careful selection and implementation
of underwriting strategy guidelines, as well as the use of reinsurance arrangements. The
Group mainly issues short term insurance contracts in connection with property, motor,
marine and casualty risks.

Two key elements of the Group’s insurance risk management framework are its
underwriting strategy and reinsurance strategy, as discussed below.
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Underwriting strategy

The Group’s underwriting strategy is to build balanced portfolios based on a large number
of similar risks. This reduces the variability of the portfolios outcome.

The underwriting strategy is set out by the Group that establishes the classes of business to
be written, the territories in which business is to be written and the industry sectors in which
the Group is prepared to underwrite. This strategy is cascaded by the business units to
individual underwriters through detailed underwriting authorities that set out the limits that
any one underwriter can write by line size, class of business, territory and industry in order
to ensure appropriate risk selection within the portfolio. All general insurance contracts
except marine, are annual in nature and the underwriters have the right to refuse renewal or
to change the terms and conditions of the contract at renewal.

Frequency and amounts of claims

The Group has developed their underwriting strategy to diversify the type of insurance risks
accepted and within each of the categories to achieve sufficiently large populations of risk
to reduce the variability of the expected outcome. The frequency and amounts of claims can
be affected by several factors. The Group underwrites mainly property, motor, casualty,
medical and marine risks. These are regarded as short-term insurance contracts as claims are
normally advised and settled within one year of the insured event taking place.

Property

Property insurance covers a diverse collection of risks and therefore property insurance
contracts are subdivided into four risks groups, fire, business interruption, weather damage
and theft. These contracts are underwritten by reference to the commercial replacement
value of the properties and contents insured. The cost of rebuilding properties, of
replacement or indemnity for contents and time taken to restart operations for business
interruptions are the key factors that inftuence the level of claims under these policies. The
greatest likelihood of significant losses on these contracts arises from storm, flood damage
or other weather related incidents.
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42 Insurance risk (continued)
Motor

Motor insurance contracts are designed to compensate policies holders for damage suffered
to vehicles, disability to third parties arising through accidents and fire or theft of their
vehicles.

Underwriting limits and guidelines are in place to enforce appropriate risk selection criteria.

The level of court awards for deaths and to injured parties and the replacement costs of
motor vehicles are the key factors that influence the level of claims

Marine

Marine insurance is designed to compensate contract holders for damage and liability
arising through loss or damage to marine craft and accidents at sea resulting in the total or
partial loss of cargoes.

For marine insurance, the main risks are loss or damage to marine craft and accidents
resulting in the total or partial loss of cargoes.

The underwriting strategy for the marine class of business is to ensure that policies are well
diversified in terms of vessels and shipping routes covered.

Casualty

For casualty class of business, such as workmen's compensation, personal accident, general
third party liability and loss of money, the extent of loss or damage and the potential court
awards are the main factors that influence the level of claims.

The Company manage these risks through their underwriting strategy, adequate reinsurance
arrangements and proactive claims handling. The underwriting strategy attempts to ensure
that the underwritten risks are well diversified in terms of type and amount of risk.
Underwriting limits are in place to enforce appropriate risk selections.

The Company proactively manage and pursue early settlement of claims to reduce their
exposure fo unpredictable developments.

The Company has adequate reinsurance arrangements to protect their financial viability
against such claims for all classes of business

The Company has obtained adequate non-proportionate reinsurance cover for all classes of
an amount considered appropriate by the management.
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Medical

Medical selection is part of the Group’s underwriting procedures, whereby contributions are
charged to reflect the health condition and family medical history of the applicants. Pricing
is based on assumptions, such as mortality and persistency, which consider past experience
and current trends. Contracts including specific risks and guarantees are tested for
profitability according to predefined procedures before approval.

Products are reviewed by the business units on an annual basis to confirm, or otherwise, that
pricing assumptions remain appropriate. Analysis is performed on earnings and liability
movements to understand the source of any material variation in actual results from what
was expected. This confirms the appropriateness of assumptions used in underwriting and

pricing.
Concentration of insurance risk

The insurance risk arising from insurance contracts is concentrated mainly in the United
Arab Emirates. The geographical risk profile is similar to last year.

Assumptions and sensitivities
Process used to determine the assumptions

The method used by the Group for provision of IBNR takes into account historical data, past
estimates and details of the reinsurance programme, to assess the expected size of
reinsurance recoveries.

The assumptions that have the greatest effect on the measurement of insurance contract
provisions are the expected loss ratios for the most recent accident years.

Reinsurance strategy

The Group reinsures a portion of the insurance risks it underwrites in order to control its
exposure to losses and protect capital resources.

Ceded reinsurance contains credit risk, as discussed in the financial risk management note.
The Group has a Reinsurance department that is responsible for setting the minimum
security criteria for acceptable reinsurance and monitoring the purchase of reinsurance by
the business units against those criteria. The department monitors developments in the
reinsurance programme and its ongoing adequacy.
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Reinsurance strategy (continued)

The Group buys a combination of proportionate and non-proportionate reinsurance treaties
to reduce the net exposure to the Group. In addition, underwriters are allowed to buy
facultative reinsurance in certain specified circumstances. All purchases of facultative
reinsurance are subject to business unit pre-approval and the total expenditure on facultative
reinsurance is monitored regularly by reinsurance department.

43 Critical accounting estimates and judgements in applying accounting
policies

The Group’s consolidated tinancial statements and its financial results are influenced by
accounting policies, assumptions, estimates and management judgement, which necessarily
have to be made in the course of preparation of the consolidated financial statements. The
Group makes estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year. All estimates and assumptions required in
conformity with IFRS are best estimates undertaken in accordance with applicable
standards. Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical
experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be
reasonable under the circumstances. Accounting policies and management judgement for
certain items are especially critical for the Group’s results and financial situation due to
their materiality.

(@)  Impairment losses on loans and advances and insurance receivables.

The Group reviews its loan portfolio and receivables to assess impairment at least on a
quarterly basis. In determining whether an impairment loss should be recorded in the
income statement, the Group makes judgements as to whether there is any observable data
indicating that there is a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows from a
portfolio of loans or receivables before the decrease can be identified with an individual
loan or receivables in that portfolio. This evidence may include observable data indicating
that there has been an adverse change in the payment status of borrowers in a group, or
national or local economic conditions that correlate with defaults on assets in the group.
Management takes into account the historical loss experience in estimating future cash
flows in assessing the loan portfolio and receivables for impairment. The methodology and
assumptions used for estimating both the amount and timing of future cash flows are
reviewed regularly to reduce any differences between loss estimates and actual loss
experience. A +/-5% change in the provision would increase/decrease the profit by AED 37

million (2014: AED 27 million).
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43  Critical accounting estimates and judgements in applying
accounting policies (continued)

(b)  Held-to-maturity investments

The Group follows the guidance of IAS 39 on classifying non-derivative financial assets
with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturity as held-to-maturity. This
classification requires judgement. In making this judgement, the Group evaluates its
intention and ability to hold such investments to maturity. If the Group fails to hold these
investments to maturity other than in specific circumstances — for example, selling an
insignificant amount close to maturity or for exceptional credit related reasons — it will be
required to reclassify the entire class as available-for-sale. The investments would therefore
be measured at fair value not amortised cost.

(c)  Impairment of available for sale investments

The Group treats available-for-sale investments as impaired when there has been a
significant or prolonged decline in the fair value below its cost or where other objective
evidence of impairment exists. The determination of what is “significant” or “prolonged”
requires considerable judgment.

(d)  Provision for outstanding claims, whether reported or not

Considerable judgment by the management is required in the estimation of amounts due to
the contract holders arising from claims made under insurance contracts. Such estimates are
necessarily based on significant assumptions about several factors involving varying, and
possible significant, degrees of judgment and uncertainty and actual results may differ from
management’s estimates resulting in future changes in estimated liabilities.

In particular, estimates have to be made both for the expected ultimate cost of claims
reported at the date of statement of financial position and for the expected ultimate cost of
claims incurred but not reported (“IBNR”) at the date of statement of financial position.

Claims requiring court or arbitration decisions are estimated individually. Independent loss
adjusters normally estimate property claims. Management reviews its provisions for claims
incurred and IBNR claims regularly.

(e)  Useful lives of property and equipment

The management determines the useful lives of property and equipment and the related
depreciation charge. The depreciation charge for the year will change significantly if the
actual life is different from the estimated useful life of the asset.

The review carried out by management in the current year did not indicate any necessity for
changes in the useful lives of property and equipment
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44 Social contributions

The social contributions made (including donations and charity) during the year to various
beneficiaries amounted to AED 1.63 million (AED 1.62 million).
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